

The impact of indoor residual spraying (IRS) on malaria prevalence between 2001 and 2009 in Mpumalanga province, South Africa

By

LINDOKUHLE M. NGOMANE

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN EPIDEMIOLOGY

in the School of Health Systems and Public Health

Faculty of Health Sciences

UNIVERSITY OF PRETORIA

SUPERVISOR: PROF C. DE JAGER

January 2012

© University of Pretoria

© University of Pretoria



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisor, Prof Christiaan de Jager for his valuable and professional guidance and support as well as continuous motivation throughout this project.

A special thank you to the Mpumalanga Department of Health: Malaria Control Programme for providing me with malaria data and support with additional relevant documents.

I also thank the South African Weather Service for assisting me with climate data. This study would not have been possible without these Departments' assistance with data provided in a timely manner.

I thank Dr Steve Olorunju of the Medical Research Council (MRC) for his assistance with the statistical analysis and interpretation of the data.

I am grateful to Mandla Zwane from Mpumalanga Department of Health for his comments and suggestions as well as support and encouragement during this project.

Lastly, I thank my family, friends and colleagues for their patience, continued encouragement and support.



DECLARATION

I declare that the dissertation, which I hereby submit for the degree Master of Science (MSc) in Epidemiology at the University of Pretoria, is my own work and has not previously been submitted by me for a degree at this or any other tertiary institution.

Protocol Reference No: 72/2010

Ethics Committee Approval Date: 21/04/2010

Signature:

Date:

Signature:

Date:



ABSTRACT

Background

Malaria remains a serious epidemic threat in the Lowveld region of Mpumalanga Province. In order to appropriately target interventions to achieve substantial reductions in malaria morbidity and mortality, there is a need to assess the impact of current control interventions such as indoor residual spraying (IRS) for vector control. This study aimed to assess long-term changes in the burden of malaria in Mpumalanga Province during the past eight years (2001-2009) and whether IRS and climate variability had an effect on these changes.

Methods

All malaria cases and deaths notified to the Malaria Control Programme, Department of Health was reviewed for the period 2001 to 2009. Data were retrieved from the provincial Integrated Malaria Information System (IMIS) database. Climate and population data were obtained from the South Africa Weather Service and Statistics South Africa, respectively. Descriptive statistics were computed to determine any temporal changes in malaria morbidity and mortality. Autoregressive integrated moving average (ARIMA) models were developed to assess the effect of climatic factors on malaria.

Results

Within the eight-year period of the study, a total of 35,191 cases and 164 deathsattributed to malaria were notified in Mpumalanga Province. There was a significant decrease in the incidence of malaria in Mpumalanga Province from 385 in 2001/02 to 50 cases per 100,000 population in 2008/09 (P < 0.005). The overall incidence and case fatality rates were 134 cases per 100,000 and 0.54%, respectively. Malaria incidence and case fatality rate by gender showed significant differences, higher in males than in



females (166.9 versus 106.4; P < 0.001; CFR 0.41% versus 0.55%). The incidence of malaria increased from age 5-14 years (70), reaching a peak at age 25-34 years (190), declining thereafter (50 in those >65 years). Mortality due to malaria was higher in those >65 years, the mean CFR reaching a 2.1% peak. Almost half (47.8%) of the notified cases originated from Mozambique and Mpumalanga Province itself constituted 50.1%. The distribution of malaria varied across the districts, highest in Ehlanzeni district (96.5%), lowest in Nkangala (<1%) and Gert Sibande (<1%). A notable decline in malaria case notification was observed following the increased IRS coverage from 2006/07 to 2008/09 malaria seasons. A distinct seasonal transmission pattern was found to be significantly related to changes in rainfall patterns (P = 0.007).

Conclusion

Decades of continuous IRS with insecticides have proved to be successful in reducing the burden of malaria morbidity and mortality in Mpumalanga Province between 2001 and 2009. A decline of above 50% in malaria morbidity and mortality was observed following expanded IRS coverage. These results highlight the need to continue with IRS together with other control strategies until interruption in local malaria transmission is completely achieved and alternative vector control strategies implemented. Efforts need to be directed towards the control of imported cases, interruption of local transmission and focus on research into sustainable and cost-effective combination of control interventions.

Keywords

Malaria, Prevalence, Morbidity, Mortality, Incidence rate, Case fatality rate, Vector control, Indoor residual spraying, Climate.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	i
DECLARATION	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
ABBREVIATIONS	xi

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1	Background	. 1
1.2	Aim and objectives of the study	.4
1.3	Justification for the study	.4
1.4	Definitions of key concepts	.5

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1	Malaria	situation	8
	2.1.1	Global malaria burden	8
	2.1.2	Malaria in sub-Saharan Africa	9
	2.1.3	Malaria in South Africa	. 10
	2.1.4	Malaria in Mpumalanga Province	. 11
2.2	Factors	s influencing malaria transmission	. 11
	2.2.1	Population movement	. 12
	2.2.2	Urbanization	. 12
	2.2.3	Agricultural development	. 13
	2.2.4	Changes in vector behaviour	14
	2.2.5	Emergence of HIV/AIDS	. 15
	2.2.6	Drug resistance	. 16



	2.2.7	Insecticide resistance	. 16
	2.2.8	Climate and malaria	.18
	2.2.9	Socio-economic factors	. 19
2.3	Curren	t malaria control strategies	. 20
	2.3.1	Early diagnosis and effective treatment	. 20
	2.3.2	Vector control (IRS)	. 22
	2.3.2	.1 Effects of IRS with insecticides	.23
2.3	Alternat	ive control strategies	.25
2.5	Novel p	revention and control strategies	.29

CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1	Study setting		
3.2	Study	/ design	33
3.3	Data	collection	33
З	3.3.1	Malaria morbidity and mortality data	33
3	3.3.2	IRS data	34
3	8.3.3	Climate data	34
3.4	Data	analysis	34
3.5	Data	quality	35
3.6	Ethic	al considerations	36

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

4.′	l Mala	ria trends and distribution	. 37
	4.1.1	Malaria case notification and incidence rate	. 37
	4.1.2	Malaria according to age and gender	. 39
	4.1.3	Malaria-attributed mortality and case fatality rate	. 41
	4.1.4	Age and gender-specific malaria mortality	. 42
	4.1.5	Seasonal malaria variation	.43
	4.1.6	Geographical sources of malaria infection	. 45



2	4.1.7	Malaria distribution by geographical area	.47
2	4.1.8	Spatial distribution of malaria incidence	50
4.2	Effec	t of IRS intervention	52
4.3	Effec	t of climate on malaria	.59

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

Conclusions and Recommendations70

ERENCES

ANNEXURES

96
9



LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1:	Number of reported malaria cases and malaria-attributed deaths,
	Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons
Table 4.2:	Age-specific malaria incidence and case fatality rate, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons
Table 4.3:	Age and gender-specific malaria-attributed mortality in Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons42
Table 4.4:	Malaria cases by source province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons
Table 4.5:	Malaria cases, incidence and deaths by administrative district, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons48
Table 4.6:	Descriptive statistics of residual insecticides applied and structures sprayed in Mpumalanga Province during 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons52
Table 4.7:	Summary of annual IRS activities by type of insecticide, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria season55
Table 4.8:	Time series analysis (ARIMA model) of the incidence of malaria on climatic variables in Mpumalanga Province61



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 4.1:	Incidence of malaria (per 100,000 population) in Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons
Figure 4.2:	Seasonal distribution of malaria by age group and gender, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons40
Figure 4.3:	Malaria incidence rate and case fatality rate (CFR) by season, all ages, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons41
Figure 4.4:	Monthly distribution of malaria cases in Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons44
Figure 4.5:	Proportion of reported malaria cases by source country, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons45
Figure 4.6:	Local malaria cases and deaths in Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons
Figure 4.7:	Proportion of malaria cases reported in Ehlanzeni District, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons
Figure 4.8:	Spatial distribution of the incidence of malaria in Mpumalanga Province (2001/02 – 2008/09)
Figure 4.9:	IRS activities in relation to malaria cases by season in Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons
Figure 4.10:	Structures sprayed by spray locality, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons
Figure 4.11:	Structures sprayed in relation to reported malaria cases by spray locality, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons
L.M. Ngomane	University of Pretoria, 2012 ix



Figure 4.12:	Monthly reported malaria cases in relation to mean monthly climatic factors,
	Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons60

Figure 4.13:	Plot of the residuals over time, Mpumalanga Province (2001/02 – 2008/09
	malaria seasons)61

Figure 4.14: Relationship between monthly malaria cases and rainfall, Mpumalanga	
Province, 2001/02 – 2008/09 malaria seasons	63



ABBREVIATIONS

ACT	Artemisinin-based combination therapy
ARIMA	Autoregressive Integrated Moving Average
CI	Confidence interval
CFR	Case fatality rate
DDD	Dichlorodiphenyldichloroethane
DDE	Dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene
DDT	Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane
DALYs	Disability- adjusted life years
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
GMEP	Global Malaria Eradication Programme
GMCS	Global Malaria Control Strategy
HIV/AIDS	Human Immunodeficiency Virus/ Acquired Immune Deficiency
	Syndrome
НВС	Benzene hexachloride
IEC	Information, education and communication
IRS	Indoor residual spraying
IMIS	Integrated Malaria Information System
ITN	Insecticide treated-nets
IVM	Integrated Vector Management
Kdr	Knock-down resistance
Kg	Kilogram
KNP	Kruger National Park
LLIN	Long-lasting insecticidal nets
LSDI	Lubombo Spatial Development Initiative
MDGs	Millennium Development Goals
NDoH	National Department of Health
NGO	Nongovernmental Organisation



POPs	Persistent Organic Pollutants
RH	Relative humidity
RBM	Roll Back Malaria
RDT	Rapid Diagnostic Test
SD	Standard deviation
SP	Sulphadoxine-pyrimethamine
UNEP	United Nations Environmental Programme
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
USEPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
WP	Wettable powder
WG	Wettable granules
WHO	World Health Organization



CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Indoor residual spraying (IRS) with insecticides has remained the cornerstone of vectorborne disease control for more than 50 years [1]. The rationale of residual spraying of dwellings for malaria control was based on observations of the vector's feeding and resting behaviour [2]. Large-scale malaria control operations based on house-spraying with dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) and dieldrin together with other early vector control measures which included the screening of houses; the use of mosquito nets; drainage or filling of swamps and other water bodies; and the application of oil the breeding sites, were successfully initiated in the 1940s leading to the elimination of malaria in most developed countries and reducing prevalence rate in some developing countries [3,4].

The effectiveness of house spraying with DDT in the 1950s, led to the adoption of the Global Malaria Eradication Programme (GMEP) in 1955-1969 [1]. Eradication was achieved in temperate regions of the world, however, this achievement eluded most African countries [2]. A combination of factors such as the emergence and spread of drug and insecticide resistance, together with challenges in the feasibility and sustainability of malaria control programmes in areas with weak infrastructure and high transmission, have conspired to make malaria a more serious problem now than it was during the first half of the twentieth century in sub-Saharan Africa [5].



The past efforts of the GMEP to eradicate malaria were abandoned when it became apparent that eradication in certain parts of the world was not a realistic goal [6]. Vector resistance to DDT and dieldrin and concerns over their environmental impact, necessitated a revised strategy for control of malaria [7]. By 1969, the World Health Organization (WHO) introduced a new Global Malaria Control Strategy (GMCS) that reflects an understanding of the importance of research, involvement of health services, improved surveillance, development of new antimalarial drugs, alternative malaria control methods, community partnership, decentralization and integration [8-10]. Over the years, several initiatives such as the Roll Back Malaria (RBM) initiative were launched to coordinate global malaria control efforts. Other initiatives for drug discovery, vaccine development and increased funding followed suit, committed to accelerate malaria control [6,11].

The main objectives of the GMCS includes the use of proven malaria control interventions like insecticide treated nets (ITNs), IRS with insecticides, preventative treatment for pregnant women and new medicines and improved diagnostics [12]. According to the Global Strategic Plan of the RBM [13], scaling up of these interventions to universal coverage for populations at risk is critical to achieve the targets of 50% mortality and morbidity reduction by 2010 and a 75% reduction in morbidity and near zero mortality by 2015. The principle of scale-up for impact has been promoted since 2005 by the RBM. This commitment has been re-affirmed by the UN Secretary-General to put a stop to malaria deaths by ensuring universal coverage of malaria control interventions by the end of 2010 through the use of vector control and case management tools and strengthening of community-level efforts [12].

A renewed effort to eliminate malaria is on the global agenda [14] and the South African government has endorsed the goal to eliminate malaria as a public health problem in the three malarious provinces by 2018 [15]. The key intervention strategies on malaria elimination for the South African setting as outlined in the Draft National Malaria Elimination Strategy encompasses: (i) prompt and effective case management (increase



definitive diagnosis and treatment with artemisinin combination therapy (ACT) to 100% coverage); (ii) integrated vector management (greater than 90% coverage of IRS); (iii) 100% coverage of long-lasting insecticidal nets (LLIN) and larviciding in targeted areas); (iv) scaling-up surveillance (passive - notified within 24 hours of diagnosis, active - 100% cases investigated within seven days of being reported); (v) epidemic preparedness and response (all outbreaks investigated within two weeks of detection); (vi) health promotion and advocacy (100% of risk groups targeted with appropriate information, education and communication (IEC) messaging) and; (vii) strengthening human resource capacity at all levels (100% of identified positions filled and appropriately capacitated).

Towards the goal to eliminate malaria, the WHO recommends the quantification of the burden of malaria using the number of malaria cases and malaria-related deaths as core indicators [12,16]. Health management information systems, including routine surveillance systems at health facilities have proved to provide evidence of the burden of diseases including malaria. Surveillance data forms a basis for planning and monitoring the impact of prevention and control activities as well as targeting interventions and advocacy [17-19].

All malaria-affected provinces in South Africa, including Mpumalanga, maintain malaria surveillance systems with valuable malaria epidemiologic data essential for monitoring and evaluating the impact of malaria control tools [20]. Within this context, this study aims to use existing malaria surveillance data to assess the impact of IRS on the prevalence of malaria and taking into account the potential effect of climatic factors which might have influenced changes in the prevalence of malaria and thus confound the relationship between IRS and the observed changes in malaria outcomes over the past eight years in Mpumalanga Province.



1.2 Aim and objectives of the study

The aim of this study is to assess the impact of IRS on the prevalence of malaria over time through the review of retrospective malaria data collected routinely by both passive and active surveillance for the eight-year period from 2001 and 2009 in Mpumalanga Province, South Africa.

The specific objectives of the study are:

- To review malaria trends in Mpumalanga Province during the past eight years (2001-2009) through retrospective analysis of routine malaria surveillance data
- To assess the effect of vector control by IRS on malaria prevalence through the review of IRS activities for the same time period
- To assess the potential effect of climatic variability on malaria transmission over time.

1.3 Justification for the study

While malaria control in South Africa has proved to be successful in terms of reducing malaria transmission in large areas [21], it remains a serious public health challenge in the northern and eastern parts of the country. The Lowveld region of Mpumalanga Province is one of the country's regions that still experience unstable malaria transmission, by contributing about 44% of the country's reported malaria cases [22]. Due to low transmission levels, malaria immunity is not thought to exist and infected individuals are therefore prone to severe disease.

South Africa is a signatory to the Abuja Declaration [23] and also committing itself to the goal of the World Health Assembly to reduce the number of malaria cases and deaths notified by 50% or more by the end of 2010 and by 75% or more by 2015 [24]. The renewed interest to control malaria and to move towards elimination is founded on the latest generation of effective tools of prevention and treatment [25]. While it is important



for malaria-endemic countries to scale-up on these intervention strategies, it is equally important to utilize malaria surveillance data for; (i) evidence-based planning; (ii) assess the level of endemicity; (iii) assess the impact of target interventions and; (iv) track progress in achieving the goals on elimination as set out in the WHO Global Malaria Action Plan [17-19,42].

In spite of several decades of malaria control in Mpumalanga Province, few studies have previously been conducted to evaluate the impact of vector control interventions on the burden of malaria using the provincial epidemiological data. The importance of analysis of data on the prevalence of disease in relation to historical levels is well documented in other malaria endemic areas. Understanding the relationship between malaria, control interventions and climate have shown to assist in providing early warning in malaria increases or potential outbreaks [26] as well as in improving the control programme [27].

This study aims to provide decision makers with vital information regarding the impact of IRS on the prevalence of malaria in the province for possible policy interventions. Moreover, to contribute to knowledge on the burden of malaria in Mpumalanga Province, with a view to stimulate further research, particularly the potential risks that IRS poses on community health and to give the status quo for malaria elimination.

1.4 Definitions of key concepts

Herewith follows the key concepts used in this study:

Anopheles: genus of mosquito comprising numerous species that transmit malaria through the bite of its female.

Case fatality rate (CFR): the number of registered deaths caused by malaria, expressed as a percentage of the total number of reported cases.

Endemic: applied to malaria when there is a constant measurable incidence of cases

L.M. Ngomane



and mosquito-borne transmission in an area over a succession of years.

Epidemic: occurrence of cases in excess of the number expected within a specific geographical area and time period.

Endophilic: Vectors that tends to inhabit/rest in indoor areas. Examples of endophilic anopheline species include *Anopheles funestus*.

Exophilic: Vectors that tends to inhabit/rest in outdoor areas. Examples of exophilic anopheline species include *An. arabiensis*.

Indoor residual spraying: the application of chemical insecticides on the interior walls and roofs of all houses and domestic animal shelters in a given area in order to kill the adult vector mosquitoes that land and rest on these surfaces.

Intensity of transmission: rate at which people are inoculated with malaria parasites by mosquitoes (usually expressed by the annual entomological inoculation rate).

Malaria eradication: the permanent reduction to zero of the global incidence of infection caused by plasmodia as a result of deliberate efforts, so that intervention measures are no longer needed.

Malaria elimination: is defined as reducing to zero the incidence of locally acquired malaria infection caused by human malaria parasites in a defined geographic area through deliberate efforts, with continued measures in place to prevent re-establishment of transmission.

Malaria season: the period from 1 July to 30 June of the following year.

Malaria incidence rate: the number of newly diagnosed malaria cases during a specified time period in a specified population (100,000 population).

Malaria prevalence: the number of malaria cases existing at any given time in a specified population, measured by positive laboratory test results.



Plasmodium: genus of the parasite that causes malaria. The genus includes four species that infect humans: *Plasmodium falciparum, Plasmodium vivax, Plasmodium ovale* and *Plasmodium malariae.*

Residuals (regression models): represents unexplained variation after fitting a regression model. It is the difference between the observed value of the dependent variable and the predicted value suggested by the regression model.

Vector: an organism which transmits an infectious agent from one host to another.



CHAPTER 2

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Malaria situation

2.1.1 Global malaria burden

Malaria has plagued mankind throughout history and still remains one of the major challenges to global health [28]. The disease contributes a considerable burden in endemic communities with premature deaths, disability from illness and it impedes on social and economic development [29]. According to the World Malaria Report 2010, the global prevalence of the disease was estimated at 225 million cases and 781 000 deaths in [30]. More than a third (36%) of the world's population live in malaria endemic areas and one billion people are estimated to carry parasites at any one time, while some three billion are estimated to live in areas at risk of malaria transmission in 109 countries [31,32]. In 2000, malaria was estimated to contribute to the loss of nearly 45 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs), which represents about 13% of all infectious diseases [31,33].

Almost all these deaths are caused by *Plasmodium falciparum*, one of the four species of malaria parasites in humans. The others are *P. vivax*, *P. malariae*, and *P. ovale* [34]. Most people at risk of the disease live in areas of relatively stable transmission, infection is common and occurs with sufficient frequency that some level of immunity develops [35]. Malaria disease and deaths in other areas of the world occur mainly among individuals who lack immunity and are infected with *P. falciparum* in areas where appropriate diagnosis and treatment is not available. The total number of cases recorded outside sub-Saharan Africa is estimated at five million per year and yet the actual number is believed to be at least four times higher [36,37]. The global effects of malaria threaten public health



and productivity on a broad scale and hamper the progress of many countries toward economic development [38].

2.1.2 Malaria in sub-Saharan Africa

Assessing the burden of malaria accurately is a great challenge in sub-Saharan Africa because most deaths occurs at home, the clinical features of malaria are very similar to other infectious diseases and the lack of facilities for accurate diagnosis [39-41]. Despite these limitations it is recognized that sub-Saharan Africa bears the brunt of the disease, where at least one million deaths from malaria occurs each year (90% of all cases), mainly from *P. falciparum* [42]. The burden is estimated to be much greater, with 15% of all DALYs lost to malaria. Children under the age of 5 years are the most vulnerable to malaria infections, where the disease kills up to 20% between the ages of six months and 5 years [35,39,43]. An estimated three million suffer complications from low birth weight, including death, arising from malaria infection during pregnancy [34,44]. Other high-risk groups are pregnant women [45], non-immune travelers, refugees, displaced persons and labourers entering endemic areas [46-48]. In addition to its burden in terms of morbidity and mortality, the economic effects of malaria in Africa are tremendous [49].

Studies have shown that malaria has resurged in certain locations of Africa that had previously had effective control programs, such as Madagascar and Zanzibar. This trend is also seen in urban areas and in countries that previously eradicated the disease such as urban areas of the Amazon Basin, South and North Korea, Armenia, Azerbaijan, and Tajikistan [50]. The constancy of transmission and the resurgence of the disease in areas where eradication efforts were undertaken are largely due to subtle interactions of biologic, ecologic, social, and economic factors.



2.1.3 Malaria in South Africa

South Africa is not exempt from the threat of seasonal and unstable malaria by affecting 10% of the population living in malaria endemic areas [51]. In South Africa, malaria is limited to the north-eastern border areas, which include Mpumalanga, Limpopo and KwaZulu-Natal provinces, with over 90% of cases due to *P. falciparum* and mainly transmitted by *An. arabiensis* [52,53]. In the 1940s malaria control began in South Africa through indoor space spraying with DDT together with land drainage and the treatment of breeding sites with oil and Paris green. These interventions led to the elimination of the major malaria vector *An. funestus sensu stricto* and *An. gambiae sensu stricto* and malaria transmission from large areas of the country [54,55]. Prior to this malaria was a major cause of morbidity and mortality in many parts of the country affecting areas such as Durban and Port St Johns on the east coast, and as far as Pretoria during favourable years causing large epidemics with up to 20,000 deaths [56].

In 1999, Hargreaves and others reported the reappearance of *An. funestus* in northern KwaZulu-Natal which was eliminated many years previously [57]. Between 1996 and 2000 the incidence of malaria increased dramatically from 27,000 in 1996 to more than 60,000 cases and 423 deaths [58]. In the absence of data exploring the relationship between malaria incidence and the use of DDT during that period, several possible causes were put forward such as climate change, demographic changes, vector biology and behaviour, drug and insecticide resistance [59].

In view of the sudden upsurge in malaria cases, South Africa had to implement several interventions; a change in first-line treatment from sulphadoxine-pyrimethamine (SP) to Coarterm, the reversion to DDT as an insecticide of choice for IRS [21] and engagement in inter-country collaboration, such as the Lubombo Spatial Development Initiative (LSDI) [60]. The country has since experienced and sustained a decrease in malaria case notifications over the years, from about 13,901 cases and 85 deaths in 2006 to 6,615 and 60 deaths in 2007, a decrease of almost 50% [61]. Currently seasonal malaria is confined



in the north-eastern border areas (Mpumalanga, Limpopo and KwaZulu-Natal) with limited focal transmission in the Northwest Province.

2.1.4 Malaria in Mpumalanga Province

Unstable malaria transmission in Mpumalanga is mainly confined in the Ehlanzeni district which constitutes approximately 70% of the province's malaria cases. Seasonal transmission occurs with an annual peak from January to May, in which *P. falciparum* accounts for 90% of the cases while *P. malariae* and *P. ovale* make up the difference. *An. arabiensis* is the major malaria vector responsible for transmission [59].

A malaria control programme has been in existence in Mpumalanga Province for more than five decades and control strategies include rapid detection and treatment of confirmed malaria cases at primary health care clinics and vector control through indoor residual spraying (IRS) with insecticides and periodic larviciding. The first-line treatment for treating uncomplicated *P. falciparum* malaria is SP which replaced chloroquine in 1997, after *in vivo* studies showed high levels (48.4% RI+RII+RIII) of chloroquine resistance in *P. falciparum* parasites [62]. Chemical vector control is carried out annually using DDT, synthetic pyrethroids and carbamates. Insecticide-treated nets (ITNs) were distributed as a pilot project in Nkomazi municipality, however, their effectiveness, usage and acceptability in the community was not fully investigated.

2.2 Factors influencing malaria transmission

The prevalence and distribution of malaria in certain parts of the world that are still experiencing malaria transmission and the resurgence of the disease in areas where eradication efforts were undertaken are mainly influenced by the interplay of multiple factors [38]. Nine factors are particularly important determinants of the pattern of malaria transmission:



2.2.1 Population movement

Historically human mobility had a tremendous effect on the global malaria situation [63]. Early researchers have noted that the failure of the malaria eradication efforts in the 1950s and 60s was partly attributed to failure to consider the relationship between mobility and malaria transmission [64]. Uncontrolled and frequent inter-territorial human population movements due to political, economic or natural disasters such as floods, earthquakes and drought, are important factors in disease emergence. The presence of refugee camps can also temporarily increase malaria endemicity in areas where it is low [65]. Irrespective of the type and motivation of the movement, migrants can become active transmitters or passive carriers of certain diseases [66].

Out of 20 countries that present high risk of malaria transmission, 16 consider human mobility as the major cause for the persistence of the disease. Seasonal migration of workers has been associated with epidemics in Kenya [63]. South Africa also experience large influx of economic migrants from neighboring countries many who carry malaria parasites, resulting in a large number of imported cases and unexplained local upsurges [67].

Growing international travel in recent years has been identified as a prime factor in the global spread of both infectious and vector-borne diseases and represents a great public health concern [68,69]. Several incidences of autochthonous malaria have been reported in malaria-free countries such as the USA and Europe, resulting either from the introduction of infected mosquitoes by aircraft or from local mosquitoes that have become infected from biting infected persons returning from endemic areas [70].

2.2.2 Urbanization

The rapid increase in the world's urban population has major implications for the transmission and epidemiology of malaria and other vector-borne diseases [71]. Economic conditions are thought to encourage the mass movement of workers from rural



areas to cities and allowing infections that may once have remained obscure and localized in isolated rural areas to reach larger populations [64]. In sub-Saharan Africa, the percentage of urban population was 14.7% in 1950 and is expected to triple by the year 2050. This expansion is expected to occur primarily in urban areas and by 2025, 800 million people are expected to live in urban communities [72].

Until recently, urbanization was believed to reduce vector breeding and thus malaria transmission [65]. However, many African countries have declining economies and most cities are struggling to cope with the pace and the extent of urbanization [73]. The study conducted by Robert and others [66] to assess the impact of urbanization on malaria transmission in sub-Saharan Africa presented evidence that urbanization allows for increased rates of disease transmission, large numbers of larval development sites due to construction of new settlements, water storage practices and limited methods for disposal of wastewater and refuse. The adaptation of malaria vectors to urban areas has been well documented for the past two decades and local transmission has been demonstrated in many African cities [65,66].

Rapid urbanization is believed to alter the frequency and transmission dynamics of malaria, with significant effects on disease-associated morbidity and mortality, which in turn has important implications for control [74]. Although urban malaria transmission is substantially less intense and more focal than in rural and peri-urban settings, the danger of epidemics can be higher due to the presence of non-immune populations [18].

2.2.3 Agricultural development

The development of agricultural water resources affects the environment, which in turn affects human health. Agricultural projects can contribute to malaria transmission by creating conditions suitable for vectors. Agricultural activities, such as deforestation, irrigation, extensive farming practices or building settlements, affect the ecological conditions, which provides good breeding sites for anophelines and thus the spread of malaria [75]. Irrigation practices that use canals or pumps to periodically flood fields for



crops such as rice have a great impact on mosquito breeding [76]. In Burundi malaria prevalence was estimated to be between 24-69% in irrigated rice fields compared to 5-30% in nearby non-irrigated cotton fields [38].

Large dams, which often accompany irrigation projects, create additional opportunities for malaria to gain a foothold. Mosquitoes can breed in the reservoir itself, especially if its edges are not kept clean of vegetation. Seepage from the dam and pooling also can occur, providing new larval development sites [38]. Widespread agricultural spraying is also known as an important factor that worsens resistance of anopheline mosquitoes in the most critical cases [77]. Contamination of the mosquito breeding sites by agricultural treatments subjects all the larvae to selective pressure, which is more likely to induce resistance [78,79].

2.2.4 Changes in vector behaviour

Although malaria is transmitted exclusively by anophelines, only certain species are vectors of the disease. In sub-Saharan Africa, two species groups within this genus contain the major malaria vector species, the *An. gambiae* complex and the *An. funestus* group. Three main species are known for their important role in malaria transmission, *An. gambiae* s.s., *An. arabiensis* and *An. funestus* s.s. [80-82]. One of the important reasons for the persistence of malaria in Africa is the presence of these most efficient vectors of malaria [41]. These mosquitoes are known as efficient vectors of malaria because of their marked preference for human environments and humans as hosts and their rapid adaptability to changes in the environment induced by human habitation and agriculture.

This plasticity is evident especially in the sibling species *An. gambiae s.s.* and *An. arabiensis* to rapidly evolve new behavioral patterns, such as the shift from indoor to outdoor blood feeding and resting in response to insecticide control programmes [83]. According to Mouchet [78], the vector biting rate is one of the principal entomological variables determining the rate of transmission, such change in mosquito behaviour can impact on the epidemiology of the disease [84].



2.2.5 Emergence of HIV/AIDS

Malaria and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) are two of the most common infections in sub-Saharan Africa and, to a lesser extent, in other developing countries [85]. The HIV pandemic has been superimposed on the longstanding malaria pandemic, where *P. falciparum* malaria is consistently one of the major causes of infant and child mortality. The high prevalence of both HIV and malaria infection in Africa means that even small interactions between the two could have substantial effects on populations exposed to both [86,87].

Early research have failed to indicate any direct, biological association between HIV and malaria, although it was demonstrated that malaria-associated anaemia treated with unscreened blood transfusions contributed to HIV transmission [87]. However, recent studies have shown evidence of an interaction between malaria and HIV. In Malawi increased risk for malaria parasitemia and clinical malaria was reported in HIV-infected pregnant women, with the risk greatest when immune suppression is advanced [88]. In east and southern Africa, where HIV prevalence approaches 30%, it is estimated that about a quarter to a third of clinical malaria in adults (including during pregnancy) can be accounted for by HIV, leading to substantial public health implications [45,89,90].

Malaria is associated with increases in HIV viral load. The study conducted by Kublin and colleagues [91] reported that malaria, if frequent, unrecognized, inadequately treated, or untreated, might result in increased rates of HIV progression. In recent years it has been noted that malaria infection is more frequent and more severe in HIV-positive pregnant women in malaria-endemic settings and in women of all gravidity, with multigravidae most affected [92,89]. Pregnant women infected with both malaria and HIV being at higher risk of developing anaemia, delivering a low birthweight infant, and delivering prematurely [45]. Further work remains to be done on the effects and public health implications of HIV/malaria interaction.



2.2.6 Drug resistance

Drug resistance in malaria is a significant public health concern, which hinders the control of malaria [49]. The spread of drug-resistant malaria parasites has been implicated in the spread of malaria to new areas and re-emergence of malaria in areas where the disease has been eradicated. Biological influence on drug resistance includes a weak background immunity, high parasite load in individuals and intense drug pressure [93].

Parasite resistance to chloroquine, was first discovered in South America and South-East Asia in the 1950s and has since spread throughout the world, where falciparum malaria is endemic. In sub-Saharan Africa, malaria control has been synonymous with chloroquine treatment [94]. South Africa first detected resistance of *P. falciparum* to chloroquine in 1985, after failing to provide an adequate cure rate [95].

The emergence of chloroquine resistance led to its replacement with SP as a first-line treatment for uncomplicated malaria. Similarly, strains of falciparum parasites were soon found to be resistant to SP and losing its status as a cheap alternative to chloroquine [96, 97]. Since the 1990s, the accelerating emergence and spread of resistance to SP has been documented in many areas, with parasitological failure rates of around 20% being widely reported and up to 40-80% in certain areas [98].

The introduction of each subsequent new antimalarial drug has inevitably been followed by the emergence of resistance [94]. As a result of these trends, many countries are required to change their treatment policies and use the more expensive combination drugs, artemisinin-based combination therapy (ACT), which will help reduce or delay the development of resistance [99].

2.2.7 Insecticide resistance

The use of a limited number of insecticides for both agricultural pests and vectors of human diseases on a vast and increasing scale has led to the widespread development



of insecticide resistance [100]. Levels of resistance in insect populations reflect the amount and frequency of insecticide contact as well as inherent characteristics of the target species [101]. Resistance to insecticide has now appeared in the major insect vectors from every genus. Altogether there are 150 species of arthropods of medical and veterinary importance, in which resistance to one compound or another has been detected. Resistance is not only known to organochlorines like DDT and dieldrin but also to organophosphates, carbamates, pyrethroids, including microbial drugs and insect growth regulators [102,103]. As of 1991, WHO reported that more than 55 anopheline vectors demonstrated resistance to one or more insecticides. Of these, 53 were resistant to DDT, 27 to organophosphates, 17 to carbamates, and 10 to pyrethroids [104].

Conventional detection of resistance is based on insecticide susceptibility tests, which are dose mortality experiments. This approach has been the best resistance detection technology in the field however it has many limitations [105]. Another approach is to employ biochemical techniques for detection of resistance and determination of biochemical mechanisms in single insects, which is particularly important to detect resistance at very low frequency allowing efficient monitoring of vector populations [106]. To prolong the effectiveness of the currently available insecticides and thereby prevent control failure, it is vital to detect the emergence of resistance genes at an early stage so that appropriate action can be taken [107].

The principal mechanisms of insecticide resistance that have been identified to date include: (i) enhanced metabolism of the toxicant (by means of mixed function oxidases, esterases, glutathione s-transferases and hydrolases); (ii) reduced sensitivity of the target site (nerve insensitivity and acetylcholinesterase insensitivity); and (iii) reduced penetration to the active site [108,102].

Knock-down resistance (kdr) is a separate resistance phenotype linked to a point mutation in sodium channels targeted by both pyrethroids and DDT [109, 101]. Metabolic resistance to pyrethroids in malaria vectors has been recently found in several major



vector species including *An. funestus* in South Africa [59] and *An. gambiae* in West Africa [110,111]. In other countries outside Africa, it has been detected in *An. sundaicus* from southern Viet Nam [112] and *An. culicifacies* in Sri Lanka [113].

During the last four decades insecticide resistance has been, and remains the most important technical problem facing disease control programmes in the fields of agriculture, veterinary medicine and public health in many countries [114-117] and it is expected to threaten vector control programmes [102].

Effective insecticide resistance management strategies seek to prevent or delay the development of resistance to a pesticide while at the same time maintaining an effective level of disease control [104]. Strategies to decrease insecticide resistance may include rotations, mosaics, and mixtures of agricultural and environmental insecticides guided by mathematical models [118]. Monitoring of vector resistance to pesticides should be an integral component of the planning and evaluation of vector-borne disease control programmes [119].

2.2.8 Climate and malaria

Malaria is governed by a number of environmental factors which affects its distribution, seasonality and transmission intensity [120]. It is well established that climate is an important determinant of the spatial and temporal distribution of vectors and pathogens [121]. The principal climatic factors influencing malaria transmission are temperature, rainfall and humidity.

Temperature and humidity determines the length of mosquito cycle and the sporogonic cycle of the parasite in the mosquito. Climatic conditions considered suitable for parasite development and transmission through the mosquito stage of its life cycle are temperatures within the range 25°C and 30°C while below 16°C parasite development is believed to decrease significantly. Above 32°C parasite development slows down



considerably and the survival of the mosquito is compromised. Relative humidity greater than 60% is also considered a requirement for mosquito survival [122].

In addition to the direct influence of temperature, rainfall determines the number and productivity of breeding sites and ultimately the vector density [77]. Rainfall and surface water is required for egg laying and larval stages of the mosquito life cycle and monthly rainfall of 80 mm is considered suitable. Numerous studies have demonstrated the association between *An. gambiae* complex abundance and rainfall [123].

Malaria sensitivity to climate was demonstrated in desert and highland fringe areas where rainfall and temperature were found to be critical parameters for disease transmission [124]. The effect of climate change on malaria transmission was seen in Kenya following the1997/98 El Niño, which caused devastating falciparum malaria epidemics [125]. Climate-related epidemics were also reported in southern Africa and have been attributed to heavy rainfall following a drought [67].

2.2.9 Socio-economic factors

In most malaria-endemic areas, scarce resources and socio-economic instability hinder efficient malaria control activities [126]. Factors such as health seeking practices and population growth determine the vulnerability of populations to malaria. Studies have shown that severe consequences of malaria are borne most heavily by the poorest citizens [16]. Impoverished families often reside in dwellings that offer little protection against mosquitoes and are less able to afford some form of personal protection. The lack of resources at both national and household levels, leaves these families with few options for malaria prevention and control, and limited access to appropriate health care services and are therefore at greater risk of malaria complications and death [127].

Child mortality rates are known to be higher in poorer households and malaria responsible for a substantial portion of these deaths [127]. The demographic surveillance system in rural areas of Tanzania has indicated that under 5 years mortality was 39%



higher in the poorest socio-economic group than in the richest [128]. A survey conducted in Zambia also found a substantially higher prevalence of malaria infection among the poorest population groups [129]. Poor medical practices in these areas such as misuse and under/overdosing of antimalarial treatment have been implicated in the development and spread of drug resistant malaria [63].

Malaria-related illness, in turn, has a direct impact on economic productivity. A study in the Côte d'Ivoire found that farmers diagnosed as sick from malaria for more than two days out of a growing season had 47% lower yields and 53% lower revenues than farmers who missed no more than two days of work [130]. According to van der Hoek [131], families highly affected by disease may turn from growing higher value crops to less labour intensive and yield-sensitive products, with consequences for household income and nutrition.

Malaria-endemic countries are not only poorer, they also have low rates of economic growth [2]. An analysis of economic growth over 25 years found that countries with intense malaria had 1.3% lower GDP growth rates than those in comparable countries with less intense malaria [132]. Another analysis found that countries with more than 50% of the population living at risk of infection from malaria parasites had average income levels that were one third of those in countries with less intense rates of disease, even when other confounding factors were removed [2].

2.3 Current malaria control strategies

2.3.1 Early diagnosis and effective treatment

Case management which encompasses prompt access to health care, accurate diagnosis and effective treatment is the other cornerstone of malaria control [133]. The diagnosis of malaria is based on clinical criteria, supplemented by the detection of parasites in the blood [134]. Conventional malaria diagnosis method uses the microscopic



examination of thick and thin blood films stained with Geimsa, Wright or Field stain [135]. Under optimum conditions, microscopy can detect 20-50 parasites/µL blood. Although microscopy is simple and inexpensive, to achieve high sensitivity requires training of microscopists, quality control and adequate equipment and maintenance [31]. Alternatively, several rapid diagnostic tests (RDTs) based on antigen-capture techniques have been developed that have high sensitivity and specificity for falciparum malaria and also greatly contributes to improved malaria diagnosis [136,134].

Prompt and effective treatment is probably the most cost-effective element of malaria control [137]. Effective treatment in the early stages of falciparum malaria reduces the risk of death as much as 50-fold, whereas treatment after progression to severe illness produces only a five-fold reduction in the risk of dying [99]. In areas of low transmission, prompt treatment can interrupt malaria transmission by reducing the number of gametocytes that can be transmitted to the mosquito host [138].

Resistance to earlier drugs has occurred in most countries including South Africa, necessitating changes in drug use policies. Combination therapy with drugs with different modes of action is now the preferred approach to malaria treatment to inhibit the emergence and spread of parasites resistant to one component of the combination [139]. WHO recommends the treatment of uncomplicated falciparum malaria infection with ACTs [135]. ACTs has the advantages of rapid clinical and parasitological response, improved cure rate, decreased malaria transmission and the potential to delay antimalarial resistance. Parenteral artemisinin derivatives, notably artemether and artesunate have been successfully used for treating severe malaria in South Africa [140].



2.3.2 Vector control (IRS)

At the end of the 19th century, a number of targeted approaches for the interruption of transmission and appropriate diagnosis and treatment of malaria were discovered [141]. Early vector control measures included the screening of houses, house spraying with pyrethrum, the use of mosquito nets, drainage or filling of swamps and other water bodies used by insects for breeding and the application of oil the breeding sites [142,143]. This was aimed at breaking the chain of transmission at points, which could be combated successfully in different areas [28].

The mid 1940's represents the beginning of the modern era of organic pesticides when DDT was first used as an insecticide for vector control in many countries. Paul Muller discovered the high insecticidal properties of the synthetic compound [144]. It was originally used during World War II to control typhus and malaria vectors. Since then it has been used to control mosquito-borne diseases and was used extensively in agriculture [3]. Since its discovery, DDT was viewed as a major breakthrough in the history of vector-borne disease control. Malaria was eradicated in some developed countries, e.g. USA, Southern Europe, USSR, parts of Asia, Australia, and most Caribbean Islands, however, the same achievement were not achieved in most African countries [145]. In southern Africa, malaria vector control programmes with DDT were implemented more than 50 years ago and had a profound impact on malaria incidence in South Africa, Zimbabwe and Swaziland [53,146].

The application of IRS consistently over time in large areas has altered the vector distribution and subsequently the epidemiological pattern of malaria in sub-Saharan Africa. The major vector, *An. funestus*, has been eliminated or reduced to negligible levels. *An. gambiae s.s.* which rests and bites mostly indoors was also controlled. The vector currently responsible for low levels of transmission and seasonal increases and outbreaks, *An. arabiensis* is less affected by IRS even at high coverage levels since it does not rest indoors as much as *An. funestus* and *An. gambiae* [100].



Despite the marked success of DDT in malaria eradication, concerns related to extensive use began to appear in the 1950's [147]. Widespread public opposition to DDT began in 1962 with the publication of Silent Spring by Rachel Carson. Because of the growing environmental concerns, DDT was widely banned as an agricultural pesticide because of its potential human and wildlife health effects, their tendency to bioaccumulate and their ability to persist in the environment [148]. In view of the toxic characteristics of most organochlorine compounds, the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants listed a number of them including DDT and were earmarked for elimination. Countries that continued to use DDT as an effective insecticide for vector control lobbied to have the insecticide for public health purposes [149,150]. Selected parts of the world where malaria remain a serious public health challenge, such as South Africa, Ethiopia, Kenya, Mozambique, Zambia, Madagascar and Zimbabwe, still use DDT as a residual insecticide to reduce malaria transmission [151,152].

2.3.2.1 Effects of IRS with insecticides

i. Human health effects

Although DDT was viewed as a major breakthrough in the history of vector-borne disease control [28,143], concerns started to emerge that residues of DDT and its metabolites were found in the environment [153]. These compounds are readily adsorbed onto sediments and soil and they can result in bioaccumulation through the food chain posing a risk to human health [154]. Trichopoulos et al. [155] reported that the bioaccumulation of DDT and dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene (DDE) in humans occurs in adipose tissue at much higher level and to a lesser extent in the blood stream and breast milk.

There is increasing awareness and concern from new scientific evidence about indoor spraying with DDT being a significant source of human exposure to DDT and its metabolites DDE and dichlorodiphenyldichoroethane (DDD) [4]. More recently, the Pine River Statement [156] has revealed substantial evidence that suggest that DDT and DDE


pose a serious risk to human health, particularly due to IRS for vector control. Several health effects to DDT has been reported in North America and Europe and these includes, pregnancy loss, preterm birth, decreased lactation, fertility loss, leukemia, breast cancer, neuro-developmental deficits, diabetes and breast cancer [157-160].

Epidemiological studies conducted in South Africa, has revealed that inhabitants of houses sprayed with DDT has significantly higher body burdens and breast milk concentrations of DDT than residents of unsprayed houses [161]. While other studies suggests that non-occupational exposure through IRS can also be associated with impaired semen quality in men [162,163], the likelihood of sperm DNA damage in young males [164] and urogenital birth defects in neonates [165,166]. Exposure assessment studies conducted in other settings have also identified exposure of the foetus and young children through the placenta and through lactation [167]. Herrera-Portugal and others [168] reported that the exposure of children and adults to DDT is likely to occur through direct contact with DDT in the environment, indoor soil and household dust and through food chain.

ii. Environmental effects

Pesticides are included in a broad range of organic micro-pollutants that have ecological impacts. The greatest potential for unintended adverse effects of chemical compounds is through contamination of the hydrologic system, which supports aquatic life, drinking water, irrigation, and many other purposes. More than a thousand pesticides currently used in most countries in the world inadvertently reach the aquatic ecosystems. Contaminants can pollute water, sediment and aquatic biota through; surface runoff in agriculture and forestry, public health control of insect vectors or pests and from accidental spraying of water bodies and spills [153,169,4].

Most documented environmental damage is thought to be associated with agricultural use of pesticides. However, some risk of contamination can be due to accidental spillage,



washing of spray equipments or disposal of obsolete chemicals in areas of IRS [4]. Some insecticides have a persistent behaviour (i.e. DDT) and although present in trace quantities in the environment, they can result in bioaccumulation through the food chain and pose a risk of causing adverse effects to human health and the environment [151].

Traces of a number of pesticides (predominantly organochlorines) have even been detected in regions, such as the Arctic, where these chemicals were never used [170]. The likelihood and significance of pesticide occurrence in the hydrologic environment is governed by factors such as use, practices and chemical properties of pesticides [171]. Their bioaccumulation and bioconcentration in the food chain has since posed long-term risks to non-target species [172,147]. Effects at the organism or ecological level are usually considered to be an early warning indicator of potential human health impacts.

2.3 Alternative control strategies

i. Integrated Vector Management (IVM)

IVM strategies are designed to achieve the greatest disease control benefit in the most cost-effective manner, while minimizing negative impacts on ecosystems (e.g. depletion of biodiversity) and adverse side-effects on public health. The IVM approach stresses the importance of first understanding the local vector ecology and local patterns of disease transmission, and then choosing the appropriate vector control tools from the range of options available [173]. IVM takes into account the available health infrastructure and resources and integrates all available and effective measures, whether chemical, biological or environmental [174].

ii. Biological control

The best known microbial larvicides for mosquito control include *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* and *Bacillus sphaericus,* which are naturally occurring bacteria that synthesize potent larvicidal toxins [175]. *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis* spores produce a toxin that is poisonous to mosquitoes and other aquatic insects but harmless to plants, animals,



and humans. *Bacillus sphaericus* is a common bacterial species found in a variety of soils and aquatic habitats is an effective mosquito larvicide. This organism multiplies in polluted waters, and produces a longer-acting toxin than *Bacillus thuringiensis israelensis*. Duration of effectiveness of these organisms depends primarily on the mosquito species, the environmental conditions, the formulation of the product and the water quality [176]. In other settings, field trials and pilot studies have shown good potential of both bacteria to manage mosquito breeding and to reduce biting rate [175]

Introduction of larvivorous fish into mosquito breeding sites may effectively reduce populations of mosquitoes. The most commonly used larvivorous fish species is *Tulapia, Poecillia* and *Gambusia*. These species have been successfully used in malaria control projects in several settings [8] as they are a safe option that can be easily introduced in defined breeding sites. To be successful certain characteristics are required of the fish species. It must be a surface feeder, as mosquito larvae are found near the water surface [177].

Genetic strategies are aimed at replacing natural vector populations of mosquitoes with populations which are unable to support complete development of the malaria parasite [34]. The oldest form of genetic control is sterile insect technology (SIT). The strategy depends on progress in three areas: the identification of parasite inhibiting genes, the development of techniques for introducing such genes into the mosquito genome, and the availability of strategies for spreading these genes through the vectors natural populations [83]. More research is in progress concerning the potential of using genetic modification to control malaria [178].

iii. Environmental management

Environmental management strategies include the reduction or elimination of vector breeding grounds altogether through improved design or operation of water resource development projects. It may entail one of two options (or both) environmental modification and environmental manipulation [174]. Environmental modification aims to



create a permanent or long-lasting effect on land, water or vegetation to reduce vector habitat. Such modifications may either sustainably control or destroy vector habitats over the long term. Environmental manipulation refers to activities that reduce larval breeding sites through temporary changes, such as the periodic removal of aquatic weeds or the removal of river vegetation to manipulate shade and sunlight conditions; altering cycles of irrigation and dry farming; or maintenance of canal-lining to prevent seepage leading to the development of vector breeding pools [173].

2.4.1 Personal protection measures

i. House siting and design

The proximity of houses or villages to a breeding site strongly influences malaria risk, especially where breeding sites are restricted [101]. In a suburb of Dakar, Senegal, malaria prevalence rose steeply from the center to the edge of town adjacent to marshy breeding sites of *An. arabiensis* [179]. In Sri Lanka, the risk of malaria was much higher among those who lived in poor quality houses within 2.5 km of a river where *An. culicifacies* bred [180].

House design and construction also influence the risk of malaria [181]. Eaves which allow interior ventilation and the escape of smoke from cooking fires are a common feature that facilitates mosquito access to sleeping areas in houses. Using mud or plaster to fill in eaves [182], or hanging eaves curtains [183] reduces human-vector contact.

ii. Insecticide Treated Nets (ITNs)

The development of pyrethroids with long lasting residual action and low mammalian toxicity suggested the possibility of treating mosquito nets as a new tool for vector control [1]. Insecticide treated nets are increasingly promoted as a relatively effective and inexpensive method for reducing human-mosquito contact. ITNs have repeatedly been shown to reduce severe disease and mortality due to malaria in endemic regions [184].



Community-wide trials on ITNs in several African settings have shown a reduction in malaria mortality by about 20% [185-189]. In a study conducted in Kenya, substantial health gains in both children and pregnant women were observed and, improved survival and health of adjacent homes to those using ITNs [190]. The prospects of ITNs as a complementary vector control measure have not been fully explored in South Africa.

Despite the proven benefits and cost-effectiveness of ITNs, achievement of widespread use has proved difficult [139]. In most sub-Saharan countries, only a small percentage of individuals who should be protected by nets use them [191-193]. Cost recovery for nets and insecticides makes them unavailable to the most vulnerable groups.

There are several debates surrounding the use and applicability of ITNs as a vector control measure, such as: (i) in high transmission areas where immunity develops over time, fewer infected bites may lead to delayed immunity and result in an increase in the number of cases of severe disease in older children; (ii) costs of nets and re-impregnation has proved difficult to sustain on a large scale, especially if householders have to pay for it [139]; (iii) ITNs usage may encourage the proliferation of anopheline mosquitoes that bite outdoors and; (iv) concerns that the emergence of pyrethroid resistance in major malaria vectors may compromise the sustainability of ITNs for malaria control [107].

iii. Zooprophylaxis

Zooprophylaxis refers to the strategic placement of domestic animals that may potentially divert vectors from humans to animal hosts. However, this diversion depends entirely on the biting habits of the local vector and varies from species to species [173]. In some cases, livestock may actually attract certain mosquitoes that would otherwise avoid human habitats, resulting in increased malaria exposure to household members [194, 195].



iv. Repellents, aerosols and fumigants

Other alternative vector control methods include the use of locally available plants or plant materials as mosquito repellents or as larvicides [196]. Products of the neem tree have been shown to exhibit a wide range of effects on mosquitoes. Neem oil extract from its seeds has repellent properties and has been successfully tested as a larvicide for anopheline mosquito control [173].

2.5 Novel prevention and control strategies

i. Insecticide wall papers

Research conducted in Benin showed that wallpapering huts with sheeting made from insecticide-treated plastic could be a new tool for malaria control. The study showed the combination of carbamate-treated plastic sheeting and pyrethroid-treated nets is a potential alternative strategy for controlling pyrethroid-resistant vectors, particularly in rural Africa [197].

ii. Fungal spray

The use of fungal spores to combat DDT and permethrin resistant mosquitoes when sprayed on indoor surfaces has shown promising results in West Africa. Trials conducted under laboratory conditions, fungal spores from *Beauveria bassiana* and *Metarhizium anisopliae* proved effective in killing both laboratory-bred and wild mosquitoes [198].

iii. Malaria vaccine

Attempts to develop a malaria vaccine began early in the 20th century, and in spite of advances in biomedical technology, no effective vaccine has been introduced for widespread use [199]. The first trials of the asexual blood stage candidate vaccine, SPf66 showed that it did not afford significant protection from *P. falciparum* malaria [200-202], despite earlier encouraging results from experimental trials in Columbia [203]. To date, efforts have been directed in the development of a pre-erythrocytic vaccine RTS,S/AS02A. This vaccine has so far demonstrated promising results by providing 30% University of Pretoria, 2012 29



protection against the first clinical episode and 58% protection against severe malaria in Mozambican children [204]. A successful malaria vaccine, used in conjunction with other control interventions has the potential to greatly reduce morbidity and mortality associated with severe malaria in areas of intense transmission [205, 206].

In summary literature tells us that control of malaria presents one of the greatest public health challenges, particularly in many malarious regions of the world. It is clear that current control and prevention strategies are fraught with technical and operational issues such as the spread of drug-resistant strains of *P. falciparum*, mosquitoes becoming resistant to insecticides, limited malaria drugs and lack of resources, have conspired to make the implementation of disease control programmes difficult.

Control of malaria has relied mainly on indoor application of residual insecticides (i.e. DDT) for many decades. Evidence of the effectiveness of insecticide usage for malaria control was apparent from the elimination of malaria in some countries. However, insecticides, like most other chemicals have the potential to produce both acute and chronic injury to human health and thus becoming a major public health concern. There is a growing pressure from the Stockholm Convection on POPs to reduce the incidence of malaria around the globe while reducing reliance on DDT. Research into alternative control strategies such as the IVM strategies is desirable in order to do away with chemical vector control.



CHAPTER 3

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Study setting

Mpumalanga Province lies in the eastern part of South Africa, bordering Mozambique in the east and Swaziland in the south. The province is divided into two regions, the Highveld and Lowveld. The Highveld is much cooler, situated at an altitude >600 m above sea level, while the Lowveld is subtropical with summer (September - April) and winter (May - August); temperature ranges from 17-30°C and 8-17°C respectively, with relative humidity of 80% in summer. The rainy season is from October to May with a mean annual rainfall of 650 mm. The two regions are administratively divided into three districts: Ehlanzeni (Lowveld), Nkangala (Highveld) and Gert Sibande (Highveld) (Figure 3.1). The districts are further sub-divided into 24 municipalities.

Current vector control interventions in Mpumalanga Province include IRS and larviciding. Regular spraying of interior walls of houses is carried out in the high risk malaria areas, a seasonal round from August to February each year. The residual insecticides of choice for indoor application are DDT for traditional structures and, carbamates and synthetic pyrethroids for western type structures. To control mosquito larvae, larviciding operation by use of Temephos (organophosphate) is carried out on identified of breeding sites.





Figure 3.1: A map of Mpumalanga Province and its neighbouring countries. [207]



3.2 Study design

This is a descriptive retrospective study based on the analysis of secondary malaria surveillance data (cases and deaths), spray data and climate data in Mpumalanga Province from 2001 to 2009.

3.3 Data collection

The following retrospective records were collected: malaria cases and deaths, spray data, mean temperature climate (mean temperature, relative humidity and monthly rainfall).

3.3.1 Malaria morbidity and mortality data

All malaria data for the period under review (2001-2009) were obtained from the provincial Integrated Malaria Information System (IMIS) under Malaria Control Programme of the Department of Health and Social Services. The information system has been in operation in the province for many years and its design is described elsewhere [208].

A confirmed malaria case was defined as patients with clinical features of malaria in whom *Plasmodium* parasites were detected on peripheral blood smears by microscopy or rapid diagnostic test at health care facilities or at community level through active surveillance. Malaria-attributed mortality, defined as patients in whom malaria was recorded as a cause of death on the death certificate.

Malaria morbidity and mortality data consisting of both passive and active cases based on definitive diagnosis reported from 2001 to 2009 were extracted from the IMIS. The data consisted of the following variables: date of diagnosis, age, gender, municipality, source country, source province and locality. Since malaria transmission in South Africa is seasonal, data were aggregated by season rather than by calendar year. A malaria



season was defined to be the period from the beginning of July to the end of June the following year. Data for Bushbuckridge municipality (former Bohlabela district in Limpopo province) (Figure 4.8) were only available from 2006, post its integration into Mpumalanga Province [209].

3.3.2 IRS data

Data for IRS activities carried out during the study period was obtained from the computerized spraying management system which is maintained in Mpumalanga Province [210]. Activities pertaining to IRS are reported on a seasonal basis, which takes place from August to February the following year. Variables recorded in this database includes: the type of insecticide used, structures targeted for spraying, number of structures sprayed, amount of insecticide used (kg) and localities sprayed.

3.3.3 Climate data

Climatic records for 2001 to 2009 were obtained from the South African Weather Service and consisted of the following variables: mean monthly temperature (°C) (minimum and maximum), mean monthly relative humidity (%) and mean monthly rainfall (mm).

Climate suitability for malaria transmission is defined as a monthly rainfall greater than 80 mm, mean temperature between 18°C and 32°C and relative humidity greater than 60% [9]. These are thresholds that describe conditions that are suitable for both the development of *Plasmodium* parasite and the life cycle of the mosquito vector.

3.4 Data analysis

Data were entered and validated using Microsoft Access and Excel and checked for errors and consistency. Statistical analyses were performed using Stata version 11 software [211].



To evaluate the effect of IRS intervention on malaria prevalence, malaria trends and patterns over time were evaluated. The effect of IRS intervention was quantified by computing the total amount of insecticide used and the number of structures sprayed in relation malaria cases notified per spray season. Descriptive statistics were computed which included: mean values, standard deviations (SD), proportions and 95% confidence intervals (CI). Malaria incidence rates were estimated using the mid-year population estimates for the years 2001 to 2009 [212] as well as population counts from the 2001 national census [213]. The incidence of malaria per 100,000 population were computed for each malaria season by age, gender and administrative level (country, province, district and municipality). Malaria case fatality rates for the period under review were computed by dividing the number of malaria deaths by the total number cases. Pearson's chi square tests were used to evaluate the associations between categorical variables (gender, country, province and district) and malaria outcomes. The chi square test for trend was used to assess trends over the eight-year period. Differences at *p* < 0.05 were regarded as statistically significant.

Time series analysis was used to assess the effect of climatic factors on malaria by fitting ARIMA models on the data for 2001-2009. The models were developed using the mean monthly malaria case numbers as dependent variable and mean monthly climatic variables as independent variables. The goodness-of-fit of the models were checked for adequacy using suitable diagnostic methods (i.e. plotting the residuals of the model).

3.5 Data quality

As this study relies on surveillance data, it is likely that the quality of the data is subjected to reporting inconsistencies, incompleteness of notification forms and flawed data capturing and, therefore, presenting missing data variables. Despite these shortcomings, it is worth nothing that routinely collected data through the provincial malaria surveillance system remains the basis for measuring malaria trends over time when cautiously analyzed and interpreted. The findings of this study are therefore not expected to be substantially affected by data quality.



3.6 Ethical considerations

The study was reviewed and approved by the School of Health Systems and Public Health Academic Advisory Committee (Approved on: 16/02/2010) and the Research Ethics Committee of the University of Pretoria (Approved on: 21/04/2010, Reference no. 72/2010). Approval and permission to access malaria data was also obtained from Mpumalanga Provincial Department of Health (Approved on: 25/06/2010).



CHAPTER 4

RESULTS

4.1 Malaria trends and distribution

4.1.1 Malaria case notification and incidence rate

Table 4.1 gives the number of cases, malaria deaths and case fatality rate by malaria season. From July 2001 to June 2009, a total of 35,191 (mean 4,399; 95%CI 1,631-7,167) confirmed malaria cases were notified in Mpumalanga Province. The number of cases per malaria season ranged from 12,125 cases in 2001/02 to 1,805 cases in 2008/09, with the seasonal mean (SD) ranging from 1,010.4 (599.6) to 150.4 (94.9) cases. The number of notified malaria cases showed a decreasing trend from 2006/07 (2,288) to 2008/09 (1,805).

Table	4.1:	Number	of	reported	malaria	cases	and	malaria-attributed	deaths,
Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.									

Malaria season	No. of notified	Mean notified cases (SD)	95% CI	Malaria deaths	CFR (%)
	cases				
2001/02	12,125	1,010 (599.6)	629 – 1,391	34	0.28
2002/03	4,050	338 (192.8)	215 – 460	14	0.35
2003/04	4,710	393 (197.6)	267 – 518	30	0.64
2004/05	3,112	259 (137.2)	172 – 345	18	0.58
2005/06	4,680	390 (361.9)	160 – 620	25	0.53
2006/07	2,288	191 (90.7)	133 – 248	16	0.71
2007/08	2,421	202 (166.5)	96 - 308	18	0.74
2008/09	1,805	150 (94.9)	90 – 211	9	0.51
Total	35,191	4,399 (3,311.1)	1,631 – 7,167	164	0.54

SD: Standard deviation; CI: Confidence interval; CFR: Case fatality rate expressed as a percentage



The incidence of malaria for 2001/02 to 2008/09 was 134 cases per 100,000 population (95% CI 44.4- 224.1), ranging from 385 cases per 100,000 in 2001/02 to 50 cases per 100,000 in 2008/09, indicating a significant decrease ($x^2 = 21.3$; P = 0.003). The incidence rates fluctuated over the years with peaks observed in 2003/04 (145), 2005/06 (145) and 2007/08 (68). A steep reduction of almost 70% was observed between 2001/02 and 2002/03 malaria seasons and thereafter maintained at between 145 and 50 per 100,000. Figure 4.1 shows the trends in annual incidence of malaria per 100,000 during the period 2001/02 to 2008/09.



Figure 4.1: Incidence of malaria (per 100,000 population) in Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.



4.1.2 Malaria according to age and gender

The incidence estimates of malaria according to age are given in Table 4.2, indicating that all age groups were affected. The mean (SD) age was 26 years (16) and range, 0 to 96 years. There were significant differences in malaria incidence among the different age groups ($x^2 = 556.0$; P < 0.001). Of all the cases notified, 9% (95% CI: 8.8% –9.4%) were among those under the age of 5 years, 14% (95% CI:13.8% –14.5%) among those 5-14 years, 24% (95% CI: 23.6% – 24.5%) those in the age group 15-24 years, 26% (95% CI: 25.8% – 24.5%) in the 35-44 years age group, 15% (95% CI: 14.3% –15%) among those 35-44 years and those over the age of 45 years made up the difference.

Table 4.2: Age-specific malaria incidence and case fatality rate, MpumalangaProvince, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.

Age group (years)	Seasonal mean notified cases (SD)	Proportion (%)	CFR (%)	Malaria incidence (per 100,000 population)
0-4	401 (321.8)	9	0.28	97
5-14	622 (624.1)	14	0.14	70
15-24	1,056 (894.8)	24	0.22	128
25-34	1,157 (720.1)	26	0.39	190
35-44	645 (413.9)	15	0.7	151
45-54	307 (188.0)	7	1.22	106
55-64	134 (108.7)	3	1.31	75
>65	77 (67.4)	2	2.11	50

SD: Standard deviation



As illustrated in Figure 4.2, males had significantly higher malaria infections than females in all age groups, accounting for 59.3% (95% CI: 58.7% – 59.8%) of all confirmed cases and 40.7% (95% CI: 40.2% – 41.3%) in females; the test for trend was statistically significant ($x^2 = 291.3$; P < 0.001). The mean incidence rate was 166.9 cases per 100,000 in males (95% CI: 164.6 – 169.2) and 106.4 cases per 100,000 in females (95% CI: 104.7 – 108.1). In both males and females, the incidence of malaria was increasing from age 5-14 years, reaching a peak at age 25-34 years (190 cases per 100,000), declining thereafter (50 cases per 100,000 in those >65 years).







4.1.3 Malaria-attributed mortality and case fatality rate

A total of 164 deaths-attributed to malaria were recorded between 2001 and 2009 in Mpumalanga Province. The annual number of malaria deaths have significantly declined by approximately 74% from 34 in 2001/2002 to 9 in 2008/2009 ($x^2 = 28.2$; P < 0.001). The case fatality rate fluctuated over the years ranging from 0.28% to 0.74% (Figure 4.3). Significantly high case fatality rates were observed in 2006/2007 (0.71%) and 207/2008 (0.74%) and subsequently followed by a marked decline reaching the 0.5% in 2008/09.



Figure 4.3: Malaria incidence rate and case fatality rate (CFR) by season, all ages, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.



4.1.4 Age and gender-specific malaria mortality

Malaria-attributed mortality increased with increasing age, more pronounced in the age group 25-34 years in females and 35-44 years in males (Table 4.3). It can be seen that in Mpumalanga malaria-attributed mortality was lower in infants and children (0-14 years) accounted for only 9% of all malaria-attributed deaths, increasing from the age group 15-24 years (12%), reaching a peak at the age group 25-34 and 35-44 years (both groups comprised 22%) and the remaining age groups (>45 years) combined, constituted about 35%.

There were significant differences in the CFR among males and females ($x^2 = 21.3$; *P* < 0.001), the mean CFR was 0.41% and 0.55%, respectively. The impact of malaria is seen in the older age groups from age 45-54 years to those above the age of 65 years, the CFR ranged from 1.22% to 2.11%.

Table 4.5. Age and genuer-specific malana-altributed	montanty	Ja
Province, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.		

er enecific meleric ettributed mertelity in Maure

Age group (years)	Malaria- attributed deaths (%)	Malaria- ttributed Female eaths (%) (CFR)		CFR (%) (Female & Male)		
0-4	9 (5)	5 (0.26)	4 (0.30)	0.28		
5-14	7 (4)	5 (0.22)	2 (0.07)	0.14		
15-24	19 (12)	13 (0.37)	6 (0.12)	0.22		
25-34	36 (22)	22 (0.64)	14 (0.24)	0.39		
35-44	36 (22)	11 (0.58)	25 (0.77)	0.7		
45-54	30 (18)	12 (1.40)	18 (1.13)	1.22		
55-64	14 (9)	6 (1.29)	8 (1.32)	1.31		
>65	13 (8)	6 (2.06)	7 (2.16)	2.11		



4.1.5 Seasonal malaria variation

It can be seen in Figure 4.4 that malaria transmission in Mpumalanga Province followed a distinct pattern over the eight years of the study period. Although malaria cases were prevalent throughout each year, transmission was distinctly seasonal increasing between September and May and decreasing from June to August. Distinct peaks are apparent in January and February each year. The pattern of malaria transmission in Mpumalanga Province was more pronounced in the 2001/02 season followed by a marked increase in the 2005/06 season. In general there was a downward temporal trend with some inter-annual variation throughout the eight year period.





Figure 4.4: Monthly distribution of malaria cases in Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.



4.1.6 Geographical sources of malaria infection

Figure 4.5 presents the geographical sources of malaria infections in Mpumalanga Province over the period of eight years (2001-2009). About half (50.1%) of the notified malaria cases were acquired in Mpumalanga Province. The remainder of the cases (49.8%) were imported from other regions, while <1% (37) of these, the source of infection was not captured. The distribution of malaria varied widely across the three districts of Mpumalanga Province ($x^2 = 43.4$; P < 0.001).



Figure 4.5: Proportion of reported malaria cases by source country, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.



As can be seen in Table 4.4, half of all the notified malaria cases were cases acquired in Mpumalanga Province (50.1%; 95% CI 49.6%-50.6%) with less than 1% of these acquired in other provinces of the country.

	No. of notified		
Province	cases	Proportion (%)	95% CI
Gauteng	8	0.02	0.01 – 0.04
Kwazulu-Natal	21	0.06	0.03 - 0.09
Limpopo	226	0.64	0.56 – 0.73
Mpumalanga	17,882	50.1	49.6 – 50.6
North West	1	0.003	-0.0 - 0.01

Table 4.4: Malaria cases by source province, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.



4.1.7 Malaria distribution by geographical area

Analysis of cases originating from Mpumalanga Province itself (Figure 4.6) showed a significant decreasing trend from 7,894 cases in 2001/02 to 446 cases in 2008/09. The number of deaths also decreased over the years with a marked peak in 2003/04 malaria season. The mean incidence rate was 68 cases per 100,000 population. There was a significant decreasing trend in the incidence rate over time ($x^2 = 28.2$; P < 0.001).



Figure 4.6: Local malaria cases and deaths in Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.



According to the surveillance data, the distribution of malaria varied widely across the three districts of Mpumalanga Province ($x^2 = 43.4$; P < 0.001). A large proportion of the province's cases were notified in Ehlanzeni district, accounting for 96.5% (95% CI: 96.3% – 96.7%) of all notified cases (Table 4.5). The other two districts Gert Sibande and Nkangala notified the lowest number of cases during the past eight malaria seasons, contributed 0.7% (95% CI: 0.7% – 0.8%) and 0.4% (95% CI: 0.4% – 0.5%) respectively.

Table 4.5: Malaria cases, incidence and deaths by district, Mpumalanga Province,2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.

District	No. of notified cases (%)	Malaria incidence (per 100,000 population)	Malaria attributed deaths	CFR (%)
Ehlanzeni	32,096 (96.5)	2,218	158	0.49
Gert Sibande	236 (0.7)	26	1	0.42
Nkangala	140 (0.4)	14	2	1.43



The distribution of malaria in Ehlanzeni district is illustrated in Figure 4.7. The district is sub-divided into five municipal areas, Nkomazi, Mbombela, Umjindi, Bushbuckridge and Thaba Chweu. The majority of malaria cases were notified in Nkomazi municipal area accounting for 73% of the notified cases followed by Mbombela (18%), Umjindi (3%), Bushbuckridge (3%) and Thaba Chweu (1%). The Kruger National Park (KNP) and lodges were also included under Ehlanzeni district and accounted for 2% of the cases.



Figure 4.7: Proportion of malaria cases reported in Ehlanzeni District, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.



4.1.8 Spatial distribution of malaria incidence

Figure 4.8 illustrates the spatial distribution of the incidence of malaria in the different municipalities over the eight year study period (2001-2009). The map shows that the risk of malaria lies in the Lowveld region of Mpumalanga Province, particularly in Nkomazi municipal area which is bordering Mozambique and Swaziland. The low risk areas were mainly the Highveld region of the province.





Figure 4.8: Spatial distribution of the incidence of malaria in Mpumalanga Province (2001/02 - 2008/09).



4.2 Effect of IRS intervention

Table 4.6 gives a summary of the amount of residual insecticide used, the number of structures covered with IRS and spray coverage achieved in Mpumalanga Province in the past eight (2001/02-2008/09) malaria seasons. The data shows that a total of 406,413 kg (406 tonnes) of the different residual insecticides were used to spray a total of 2,865,592 structures during the 2001/02 to 2008/09 malaria seasons.

Table 4.6: Descriptive statistics of residual insecticides applied and structuressprayed in Mpumalanga Province during 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.

Insecticide	Amount insecticide used (kg)	Seasonal mean insecticide used (SD)	Number structures sprayed	Seasonal mean structures sprayed (SD)	Spray coverage (%)
Baythroid	75	37.3 (52.7)	7,517	3,759 (5,311.1)	83.5
DDT	176,571	5,044.9 (5,409.4)	1,588,586	45,388 (50,742.9)	81.7
Fendona	220,912	31,559 (38,817)	280,341	40,049 (49368.5)	88.4
K-Othrine WP	6,312	263 (338.1)	322,797	13,450 (17,070.1)	85.1
K-Othrine WG	2,543	106(141.6)	666,351	27,765 (38,398.1)	90.5
Total	406,413	4417.5 (13304.4)	2865592	31148(41899)	85.8

WP: Wettable powder; WG: Wettable granules



Figure 4.9 presents data on IRS activities in relation to malaria cases in Mpumalanga Province. IRS coverage remained stable during the first four malaria seasons (2001/02 to 2004/05), an increasing trend was observed from 2005/06 to 2008/09. Malaria cases were related to changes in IRS activities, showing a rapid decreasing trend during the same time period (2005/06 to 2008/09).



Figure 4.9: IRS activities in relation to malaria cases by season in Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.



A summary of IRS activities by season is given in Table 4.7. In the table it can be seen that Baythroid was only used for one season. A large amount of Fendona was applied (54.4%), despite the fact that it has only been used in Bushbuckridge and data only became available from 2006 after the integration into Mpumalanga Province. Second most applied insecticide was DDT (43.4%), followed by K-Othrine (2.2%). However, over half of the structures were sprayed with DDT (54%) and the other insecticides made up the difference. The overall spray coverage with the different insecticides for all the eight malaria seasons ranged from 81.7% (95% CI 77.5-85.9) to 90.5% (95% CI 87.1-93.8).



 Table 4.7: Summary of annual IRS activities by type of insecticide, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria

seasons.

Malaria												
season		DDT			K-Othrine			Baythroid			Fendona	
	Structures sprayed	Insecticide applied (kg)	Spray coverage (%)									
2001/2002	115,225	14,244	85	84,917	1,706	85	7,514	74	92	-	-	-
2002/2003	137,768	17,839	91	68,309	1,340	92	-	-	-	-	-	-
2003/2004	71,464	8,984	73	111,703	2,163	80	-	-	-	-	-	-
2004/2005	107,728	12,832	81	71,858	1,302	85	-	-	_	-	-	_
2005/2006	140,926	15,727	72	78,616	635	85	-	-	_	72,270	59,877	91
2006/2007	283,472	28,315	72	113,196	442	89	-	_	_	91,562	68,646	87
2007/2008	336,119	36,536	86	129,655	487	88	-	-	_	110,662	87,827	94
2008/2009	331,135	35,386	88	172,721	647	94	-	-	-	5,847	4,562	72
TOTAL	1,523,837	169,863	81	830,974	8,721	87	7,514	74	92	280,341	220,912	86



Figure 4.10 illustrates the number of structures that were sprayed with residual insecticides (organochlorine and pyrethroids group) and coverage achieved during the period of review. An average of 163,000 structures were sprayed from 2001 to 2009 in Ehlanzeni district

As can be noted from Figure 4.10, a gradual increase in structures sprayed with insecticides was seen from 2006/07 through 2008/09 in the spray areas (Mbombela, Nkomazi, Umjindi and KNP and lodges). Annual spray coverage in the different spray areas ranged from 74%-93%; 73%-96%; 61%-99%; 75%-86%; and 81%-97% respectively.





Figure 4.10: Structures sprayed by spray locality, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.



The direct link between expanded IRS coverage and malaria cases is illustrated in Figure 4.11. It can be seen that malaria case notification started to decline following the increased number of structures covered with IRS beginning 2006/07 to 2008/09, particularly in Nkomazi, Mbombela and Kruger National Pak and lodges.



Figure 4.11: Structures sprayed in relation to reported malaria cases by spray locality, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.



4.3 Effect of climate on malaria

Figure 4.12 represents the time series plot of monthly malaria cases, rainfall, temperature and relative humidity of Mpumalanga Province from 2001 to 2009. Malaria case notification peaks during spring and summer each year and lowest in the winter seasons. Climatic conditions have remained relatively stable during the eight year period, with exception for the anomaly in rainfall in 2005/06, higher than the annual average (650 mm) for Mpumalanga Province.




Figure 4.12: Monthly reported malaria cases in relation to mean monthly climatic factors, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons.



The ARIMA models (Table 4.8) shows that rainfall was the only climatic variable significantly associated with the transmission of malaria in Mpumalanga Province (β = -0.062; *P* = 0.007). However, there was no significant association between temperature and relative humidity and monthly malaria cases (*P* > 0.05).

Table 4.8: Time series analysis (ARIMA model) of the incidence of malaria on climatic variables in Mpumalanga Province.

Variables	Coefficient	Standard error	P-value
Rainfall	-0.062	0.023	0.007
Tmin	0.016	0.055	0.768
Tmax	0.012	0.027	0.668
RH	0.006	0.012	0.585
Constant	-0.227	0.006	0.000

Tmin: Minimum temperature; Tmax: Maximum temperature; RH: Relative humidity



To test the fit of the model, graphic analysis of residuals over time was conducted and it shows no obvious trend in variation (Figure 4.13), suggesting that the residuals do not violate the assumption of constant location and scale and are within the range (-50, 50). Also correlation analysis of the actual versus predicted indicates that the predicted values and the actual malaria cases matched reasonably well (r = 0.83; P < 0.05).



Figure 4.13: Plot of the residuals over time, Mpumalanga Province (2001/02 - 2008/09 malaria seasons).

The relationship between malaria and rainfall patterns is further illustrated in Figure 4.14, which shows monthly rainfall and monthly malaria cases in Mpumalanga Province from July 2001 to June 2009. Depending on the amount of rainfall, upsurges in malaria transmission are seen with a time lag of one to two months during the study period.





Figure 4.14: Relationship between monthly malaria cases and rainfall, Mpumalanga Province, 2001/02 -2008/09 malaria seasons.



CHAPTER 5

DISCUSSION

The time trends shows a significant decline in malaria morbidity and mortality in Mpumalanga Province over the past eight years from 2001 to 2009, representing an 85% reduction in the annual number of confirmed malaria cases and 74% in the number of deaths-attributed to malaria. A previous study estimating the burden of malaria in Mpumalanga Province in 1987 to 1999 showed fluctuating trends coupled with flood-related malaria epidemics in 1996 and 2000 [57]. After eight years of continuous malaria control, the province has achieved a marked decrease in malaria cases and deaths with no epidemics. The declining trend in malaria incidence demonstrated in this study is consistent with previously published results from other malarious provinces of South Africa; KwaZulu-Natal [214] and Limpopo [215].

Notable peaks in the number of notified cases were observed during the 2001/02, 2003/04 and 2005/06 malaria seasons. The 2001/02 peak was followed by a steep reduction of almost 70% in the subsequent season. This could be a result of the change in drug policy to combat parasite resistance to SP [140]; the re-introduction of DDT; and the Lubombo Spatial Development Initiative (LSDI), a joint development programme implemented to control malaria in Mozambique and Swaziland [60]. The introduction of ACTs for treatment of uncomplicated malaria in 2003 and 2004 [140] could partly explain the upsurge in malaria cases during the 2003/04 malaria season. However, it is possible that drug policy was not the only change that was introduced during this period. Further research is required to explain this scenario. The 2005/06 pattern may be attributed to the integration of Bushbuckridge municipality into Mpumalanga Province; the abandonment of the requirement of entry visa between South Africa and Mozambique [216] leading to large population movement between the countries thus bringing about importation of malaria cases; and rainfall anomaly.



In the present study, the finding of peak malaria incidence in the young adult age group (15-44 years) may be related to outdoor behavioural risk factors such as leisure patterns and sleeping arrangements leading to exposure to infective mosquito bites as well as the exophilic (outdoor biting) behaviour of the local mosquito vector. The low proportion of cases in infants and children also confirms the predominance of outdoor transmission since small children tend to spend more time indoor particularly during mosquito biting time [217]. In Tanzania, Russell and colleagues [218] found that high usage of intradomiciliary vector control tools can alter vector feeding patterns from indoor to outdoor transmission, suggesting the need for additional vector control tools that target outdoor biting mosquitoes such as topical repellents [219,220], larval control [221,222] and zooprophylaxis [223].

This study found significant differences (p < 0.001) in malaria incidence between males and females. This was similar to previous observations in Mpumalanga Province [59], KwaZulu-Natal [217] and Limpopo [215] as well as in other countries [224-227]. According to Martens & Hall [65] men have a much greater risk of contracting malaria due to occupational reasons in particular those that work in mines, fields or forests or migrate to areas of work at peak biting time. The study conducted in Ethiopia provides evidence of the relationship between occupation and malaria risk, the authors found that highland migrant labourers were vulnerable to malaria while migrating to find agricultural work [228]. A similar scenario may exist in Mpumalanga Province.

The data shows that young adult men are at risk of contracting malaria infection in Mpumalanga Province and this may be the case in areas of low to moderate transmission intensity [217]. While in stable malaria transmission areas, non-immune pregnant women [45, 229] and children under the age of 5 years [17] are the most susceptible to malaria infection.

The burden of malaria in Mpumalanga Province is strongly connected to importation of malaria parasites by labour-related migration. As almost half (47.8%) of the cases



reported in Mpumalanga Province were acquired in Mozambique. Trend analysis of these cases reveals that 74% were among males between the age of 15 and 44 years, confirming that the majority of the imported cases were introduced by young adult males crossing the border to seek work opportunities.

The incidence of malaria in Mpumalanga Province shows inter-annual variation from 2001 to 2009 with a distinct malaria transmission season, prominent peaks in January and February. The reasons for the January/February peaks could be due to favourable climatic conditions for malaria transmission (peak summer season) or introduced parasites by human immigration from various places of origin following the December holiday season. This finding suggests important implications for the control programme in terms of timing when directing efforts in controlling malaria.

Despite the fact that a large proportion of the cases reported in Mpumalanga Province were imported, the province still accounted for half (50.1%) of the total cases notified, which indicates the recurrence of local malaria transmission. The incidence of malaria was found to be most pronounced in Ehlanzeni district (low altitude region) than in the high altitude districts (Nkangala and Gert Sibande), suggesting the effect of altitude on malaria transmission. It has long been recognized that altitude is an important determinant of malaria endemicity, whereby higher altitude levels are considered to be cold to support malaria transmission [123].

The burden of the disease in the province lies in Nkomazi municipal area by contributing 73% of the province's malaria cases. Malaria transmission recurrence in this district can be attributed to its close proximity to Mozambique as well as intensive agricultural practices. The challenge of high malaria prevalence in districts bordering Mozambique has also been reported in KwaZulu-Natal [230]. The link between malaria and agriculture has a long history, in particular irrigation, by creating suitable vector breeding sites and facilitating malaria transmission [80].



Malaria case fatality rates fluctuated over the entire study period. The overall CFR was 0.54% which is not much significantly higher than the national target. However, it is important for the province to further decrease the CFR to below 0.5% through improved case management. Unlike other African countries, where malaria is a major cause of infant and child mortality, in Mpumalanga Province malaria-attributed mortality was lower in infants and children. Severe illness due to malaria was higher among adults, with the CFR reaching 2.1% in those over the age of 65 years compared to 0.28% and 0.14% for under fives and five-14 age groups. The enquiry into all deaths-attributed to malaria in Mpumalanga Province in 1999, revealed that late presentation to health care facilities was strongly associated with increased mortality due to malaria [231]. In another study in South Africa, it was found that co-morbid diseases, especially HIV co-infection and poor management of malaria-related complications led to mortality outcomes [232]. This suggest the need to maintain sustainable training programmes for all health care workers in all levels of health facilities in both low and high risk transmission areas as well as community health promotion and education.

It is evident from this study that increased amount of insecticide used and spray coverage were directly linked to reduced malaria morbidity and mortality burden in Mpumalanga Province, particularly in the malaria high-risk areas. This trend was more apparent in the last three years of the study period. A study conducted in Uganda to assess the impact of IRS on malaria morbidity after a single round of spraying with lambda-cyhalothrin found a gradual decrease in the number of patients diagnosed with clinical malaria in the first four months after IRS [233].

To date there have been several recent reports of reductions of malaria morbidity and mortality in Africa following intensive IRS campaigns [146]. In South Africa, marked reductions in the number of confirmed cases and deaths in Mpumalanga and KwaZulu-Natal provinces were observed following the introduction of IRS campaigns in Mozambique and Swaziland through the LSDI [60]. In KwaZulu-Natal, Maharaj et al. [234]



reported a significant reduction in the number of cases in most endemic areas of the province following the re-introduction of DDT for vector control.

Although increased IRS coverage has significantly contributed to the visible decreasing trends in malaria morbidity and mortality, other factors such as the combination of preventative interventions (early diagnosis, case management and effective treatment with ACT), low numbers of mosquito vectors, improved education and awareness, and improving socio-economic indices, had played a role in the marked reduction in the burden of malaria in Mpumalanga Province.

Although IRS has had beneficial effects in the history of malaria control and prevention, there is increasing awareness and concerns from new scientific evidence regarding the safety of insecticides (i.e. DDT) on humans and the environment [98]. More recently, the Pine River Statement revealed substantial evidence that DDT and DDE pose a serious risk to human health, particularly due to IRS for malaria vector control [156]. Other studies conducted in South Africa reported several risks associated with non-occupational exposure, such as male reproductive effects [162,163]. In view of these public health concerns, efforts needs to be directed towards the development of new tools for malaria vector control in order to minimize adverse health effects and halt endemic transmission.

The present study indicates that inter-annual variability of malaria incidence in Mpumalanga Province is associated with climatic factors. In particular, rainfall has played a significant role in the transmission of malaria. The regression coefficient of rainfall was significantly associated with the incidence of malaria in the ARIMA model (P = 0.007). The transmission season of malaria in Mpumalanga showed to follow a distinct rainfall pattern and fluctuated considerably from year to year according to rainfall, with heavy rainfall associated with increased number of reported cases. This finding is not unexpected since it is well documented that rainfall is an important environmental parameter in defining the transmission of malaria with respect to the breeding and development of mosquitoes [235]. These results are consistent with previous findings



from KwaZulu-Natal where a direct and predictable relation between rainfall and malaria transmission was observed [236].

It has been suggested that anthropogenic climate change is expected to directly affect the behavior and geographical distribution of mosquitoes and the life cycle of the parasite and thus changing the future distribution of the disease [237,238]. Casman and colleagues [239] notes that since climate can correlate with transmission intensity, it can greatly affect the success or failure of control and eradication programmes. The authors, however, points out that in fringe transmission areas like South Africa, Madagascar and Zimbabwe, malaria surveillance and control maybe sufficient to mitigate any increases in transmission brought about by climate change.

Limitations

It is acknowledged that this study has several limitations given that it relies mainly on routine surveillance data. Firstly, the problem with surveillance data is that the quality might be subjected to reporting inconsistencies and incompleteness, emanating from incorrect completion of the notification forms, lack of systematic inclusion of data from other sources such as traditional healers, faith-based organizations and self-treatment cases. Secondly, over-reporting of malaria cases could have also occurred in the high-risk areas due to high awareness and advocacy regarding malaria among health care workers. Finally, it is possible that some confounding factors that may have influenced the changes in the burden of malaria were not addressed in this study, such as the effect of other preventive interventions, changes in vector population and socio-economic factors.



Conclusions and Recommendations

The data presented in this study documents a significant reduction in malaria morbidity and deaths-attributed to malaria in Mpumalanga Province in the past eight years (2001-2009). The two main conclusions that can be drawn from this study are the following: (i) although climatic conditions favourable for malaria transmission fluctuated over the years, malaria morbidity and mortality showed a gradual reduction and; (ii) there was evidence of an association and time link between increased IRS coverage and the reduction in malaria morbidity and mortality from 2006/07 to 2008/09 malaria seasons.

The findings show that Mpumalanga Province has achieved the goal to reduce malaria to low levels through expanded IRS coverage in combination with other control interventions. These results highlight the need to continue with current control strategies such as IRS until interruption in local malaria transmission is completely achieved and alternative control strategies implemented. In order to ensure continuous improvement in malaria control and subsequent elimination, a comprehensive intervention plan which encompasses a combined set of widespread interventions is required.

Based on the findings of this study, there is a need for the Malaria Control Programme to consider the following recommendations in order to achieve the goal to eliminate malaria as a public health problem in the province:

• Address importation of malaria cases.

- In view of the high proportion of cases that were acquired in Mozambique, this requires the intensification of the regional cross-border collaboration efforts through the LSDI in order to lower the risk of re-importation of infections.
- Internally, the province needs to institute initiatives addressing immigrant carriers to restrict the importation of cases such as assessing the feasibility of border screening.
- Another approach is intersectoral collaboration involving the agricultural sector and Nongovernmental Organisations particularly in the high-risk areas to introduce



rapid response in screening and treatment of all newly employed individuals originating outside the country's borders.

- Develop strategies to interrupt local transmission and transmission risk.
 - Interruption of local transmission in the province will require active measures, including identification of asymptomatic infections and effectively treating all infections before transmission can occur.

• Enhance surveillance and reporting.

- The province should maintain good quality surveillance system to facilitate immediate detection, notification and response to outbreaks and individual malaria cases.
- This study identified data entries in which data was missing, this gaps needs to be addressed through vigilant monitoring of the data collection (i.e. completion of notification forms) and capturing process in order to maintain a consistent information system which is a cornerstone of a successful malaria elimination campaign.
- Maintain strong capacity building and training levels.
 - Training of all health care workers in all levels of health facilities and all the districts to be strengthened to effectively control transmission in both low and high risk transmission areas and during outbreaks and to reduce the case fatality rate due to misdiagnosis of cases.
- Strengthen health promotion and awareness.
 - While still dependent on IRS, health promotion and education needs to be strengthened to limit exposure to potentially harmful insecticides and promote the use of alternative control approaches.

• Identify and support field applied research for improved control interventions.

- Research efforts should focus on the development of new tools for malaria vector control including new generation insecticides, new biological control strategies and innovative methods.



- Studies are required to explore the feasibility of introducing ITNs as a supplementary vector control strategy in Mpumalanga Province.
- Research and development on refined tools.
 - The provincial control programme needs to play a key role in supporting pilot projects and field trials on sustainable and cost effective combination of vector control measures that are appropriate to local conditions and relatively safe for human health and the environment.
 - Strengthening intersectoral collaboration with research institutions such as the University of Pretoria Centre for Sustainable Malaria Control is desirable in order to enhance these research efforts.

Areas for further research

The findings presented in this study raise additional areas for further research:

The emerging trend from this study is that mortality due to malaria was highest in the adult age group (>65 years) with a CFR of 2.1%, this is a concern since it is much higher than the National CFR of 0.5%, it is therefore important to establish the risk factors associated with adult mortality in Mpumalanga Province. While this study has addressed the impact of vector control by IRS in reducing malarial mortality and morbidity, it is essential to also monitor its potential harm on occupants living in the sprayed dwellings. Finally, field trials need to be initiated, implemented and evaluated to explore the feasibility of ITNs for malaria control as part of the IVM approach.



REFERENCES

- World Health Organization. Malaria Vector Control and Personal Protection. WHO Tech Rep Ser No 936. Geneva: WHO; 2006.
- Sachs J, Malaney P. The economic and social burden of malaria. Nature 2002; 415:680-685.
- Curtis CF. Should DDT be banned by International Treaty? Parasitol Today 2000; 16: 119-121.
- Walker K. A Review of Control Methods for African Malaria Vectors. Report prepared for the Office of Health, Infectious Diseases and Nutrition, Bureau for Global Health, U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID). Washington DC: USAID; 2002.
- 5. McMichael J. Climate change and human health: risks and responses. World Health Organ, 2003. p 322.
- 6. Sachs JD. A New Global Effort to Control Malaria. Science 2002; 298:122-124.
- Bruce-Chwatt LJ. Malaria and its control: present situation and future prospects. Ann Rev Public Health 1987; 8:75-110.
- Ruebush TK, Breman JG, Kaiser RL, Warren M. Malaria. Rev Infect Dis 1986; 8(1):454-466.
- Bruce-Chwatt LJ. History of malaria from prehistory to eradication. In: Wernsdorfer WH, McGregor I, editors. Malaria: Principles and Practice of Malariology. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone; 1988.
- WHO Malaria Unit. Global malaria control. Bull World Health Organ 1993; 71:281-284.
- 11. Hay SI, Guerra CA, Tatern AJ, Noor AM, Snow RW. The global distribution and population at risk of malaria: past, present and future. Lancet 2004; 4:327-336.
- 12. World Health Organization. World Malaria Report 2008. Geneva: WHO; 2008.



- Roll Back Malaria Partnership: Global Malaria Action Plan (2005-2015). Geneva: RBM/WHO; 2008. [Online] [cited 2010 May 25]. Available from: <u>http://www.rollbackmalaria.org/gmap</u>
- 14. World Health Organization. Malaria elimination: a field manual for low and moderate endemic countries. Geneva: WHO; 2007.
- 15. Department of Health. Draft National Malaria Elimination Strategy (2011-2018). Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2010.
- Breman JG, Halloway CN. Malaria surveillance counts. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2007; 77:36.
- Rowe AK, Rowe S, Snow RW, Korenromp EL, Armstrong Schellenberg JRM, Stein C, et al. The burden of malaria mortality among African children in the year 2000. Int J Epidemiol 2006; 35:691-704.
- Breman JG, Alilio MS, Mills A. Conquering the intolerable burden of malaria: what's new, what's needed: a summary. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2004; 71(Suppl 2):S1-S15.
- Cibulskis RE, Bell D, Christophel E, Hii J, Delacollette C, Bakgaita N, et al. Estimating Trends in the Burden of Malaria at Country Level. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2007: 77(Suppl 6):S133-S137.
- 20. Sharp B, Le Sueur D. Malaria in South Africa: The present and selected implications for the future. S Afr Med J 1996; 86:83-89.
- Blumberg L, Frean J. Malaria control in South Africa challenges and successes. S Afr Med J 2007; 97(11):1193-1197.
- 22. Department of Health. Prevalence and Distribution of Malaria in South Africa. 2007 Annual Report. Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2007.
- World Health Organization. The Abuja declaration on Roll Back Malaria in Africa. Abuja, Nigeria. Geneva: WHO; 2000. [Online] [cited 2010 Dec 21]. Available from: <u>http://www.un.org/milleniumgoals/</u>



- United Nations. Resolution adopted by the General Assembly. United Nations Millennium Declaration. New York: United Nations; 2000. [Online] [cited 2010 Dec 21]. Available from: <u>http://www.un.org/milleniumgoals/</u>
- 25. World Health Organization. World Malaria Report 2009. Geneva: WHO; 2009.
- Thomson MC, Doblas-Reyes FJ, Mason SJ, Hagedorn R, Connor SJ, Phindela T, et al. Malaria early warnings based on seasonal climate forecasts from multimodel ensembles. Nature 2006; 439:576–579.
- Graves PM, Osgood DE, Thomson MC, Sereke K, Araia A, Zerom M et al. Effectiveness of malaria control during changing climate conditions in Eritrea, 1998–2003. Trop Med Int Health 2008; 13:218-28.
- 28. Najera JA. Concept of Global Malaria Eradication Challenged. Special Report Health & Hyg 1995: 15-18.
- 29. World Health Organization. Rolling Back Malaria: WHO World Health Report. Geneva: WHO; 1999: 49-64.
- 30. World Health Organization. World Malaria Report 2010. Geneva: WHO; 2010.
- 31. Guerin PJ, Olliaro P, Nosten F, Druilhe P, Laxminarayan R, Binka F, et al. Malaria: Current status of control, diagnosis, treatment, and a proposed agenda for research and development. Lancet Inf Dis 2002; 2:564-573.
- 32. Whitehorn C, Breman JG. Epidemiology, prevention and control of malaria in endemic areas. Medline; 2010 [cited 2010 Jul 11].
- Guinovart C, Navia MM, Tanner M, Alonso PL. Malaria: Burden of Disease. Curr Mol Med 2006; 6:137-140.
- 34. Phillips RS. Current Status of Malaria and Potential for Control. Clin Microb Rev 2001; 14: 208-226.
- 35. World Health Organization. The African Malaria Report 2003. Chapter 1: The burden of disease in Africa. Geneva: WHO; 2003.



- Trigg PI, Kondrachine AV. The current global malaria situation. In: Sherman JW, editor. Malaria: Parasite biology, pathogenesis and protection. Washington, DC: ASM Press; 1998. p. 11-24.
- 37. Snow RW, Guerra C, Noor A, Myint H, Hay S. The global distribution of clinical episodes of Plasmodium falciparum malaria. Nature 2005; 434:214-217.
- 38. Oaks SC, Violaine SM, Greg WP, Carpenter CCJ. Malaria: Obstacles and Opportunities. A Report of the Committee for the Study on Malaria Prevention and Control: Status Review and Alternative Strategies. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 1991.
- Snow R, Craig M, Deichmann U, Marsh K. Estimating mortality, morbidity, and disability due to malaria among Africa's non-pregnant population. Bull World Health Organ 1999; 77:624-640.
- 40. Breman JG. The intolerable burden of malaria: a new look at the numbers. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2001; 64(Suppl 1-2):S1-S106.
- 41. Greenwood B, Mutabingwa T, 2002. Malaria in 2002. Nature 2002; 415:670-672.
- 42. World Health Organization. World Malaria Report 2008. Geneva: WHO; 2008.
- 43. Pasvol G. The treatment of falciparum malaria in African children. Afr Health 1998; 20(4):19-20.
- 44. Brabin B. An assessment of low birthweight risk in primiparae as an indicator of malaria control in pregnancy. Int J Epidemiol 1991; 20:276-283.
- Steketee RW, Nahlen BL, Parise ME, Menendez C. The burden of malaria in pregnancy in malaria-endemic areas. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2001; 64(Suppl 1-2):S28-S35.
- 46. Russel PK, Howson CP, editors. Vaccines Against Malaria: Hope in Gathering Storm. Washington DC: National Academy Press; 1996. p. 30.



- World Health Organization. Investing in health research and development. Ad Hoc. Committee of Health Research Relating to Future Intervention Options. Geneva: WHO; 1996.
- Day KP. The Epidemiology of Malaria. In: Wahlgern M, Perlmann P, editors. Malaria: Molecular and Clinical Aspects. Harwood Academic Publishers; 1999. p. 57-86.
- 49. Bloland PB. Drug resistance in malaria. WHO monograph WHO/CDS/CSR/DRS/2001.4. Geneva: WHO; 2001. p. 1-27.
- 50. Roberts DR, Manguin S, Mouchet J. DDT house spraying and re-emerging malaria. Lancet 2000; 356:330-332.
- 51. Department of Health. Malaria Policy. Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2006.
- 52. Gear JHD. Malaria in South Africa: Its history and problems. S Afr J Epi Inf 1989; 84:102-106.
- 53. Govere JM, Durrheim DN, Kunene S. Malaria trends in South Africa and Swaziland and the introduction of synthetic pyrethroids to replace DDT for malaria vector control. S Afr J Sci 2002; 98:19-21.
- 54. Sharp B, Le Sueur D. Malaria in South Africa: The present and selected implications for the future. S Afr Med J 1996; 86:83-89.
- 55. Sharp B, Craig M, Curtis B, Mnzava A, Maharaj R, Kleinschmidt I. Review of Malaria in South Africa. Health Syst Trust 2001; 351-364.
- 56. Malaria Control in South Africa. Health & Hyg 1995: 13-14.
- 57. Hargreaves K, Koekemoer LL, Brooke BD, Hunt RH, Mthembu J, Coetzee M. Anopheles funestus resistant to pyrethroid insecticides in South Africa. Med Vet Entomol 2000; 14:181-189.
- 58. Moonasar D, Johnson CL, Maloba B, Kruger P, le Grange K, Mthembu J, van den Ende J. Malaria. S Afr Health Rev 2004: 243-256.



- 59. Govere J, Durrheim DN, Coetzee M, Hunt RH. Malaria in Mpumalanga, South Africa, with special reference to the period 1987-1999. S Afr J Sci 2001; 97:55-58.
- Sharp BL, Kleinschmidt I, Streat E, Maharaj R, Barnes K, Duirrheim DN, et al. Seven years of regional malaria control collaboration – Mozambique, South Africa, and Swaziland. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2007; 76(1):42-47.
- 61. Department of Health. Malaria Control in South Africa. Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2007.
- 62. Govere J, la Grange JJP, Durrheim DN, Freese JA, Sharp BL, Mabuza A, et al. Sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine effectiveness against Plasmodium falciparum malaria in Mpumalanga, South Africa. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 1999; 93:644.
- Boland PB, Williams H. Malaria Control During Mass Population Movements and Disasters. National Research Council of the National Academies, Roundtable on the Demography of Forced Migration. Washington, DC: National Academy Press; 2002. p. 8-30.
- 64. Prothero RM. Population movements and problems of malaria eradication in Africa. Bull World Organ 1961; 24:405-425.
- 65. Martens P, Hall L. Malaria on the move: human population movement and malaria transmission. Emerg Infect Dis 2000; 6:103-109.
- Robert V, Macintrye K, Keating J, Trape JF, Duchemin JB, Warren M, et al. Malaria transmission in urban sub-Saharan Africa. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2003; 68:169-176.
- 67. Department of Health. Epidemiological Comments: Malaria Control in South Africa. Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2008. p. 1-32.
- Laird M. Vector-Borne Diseases Introduced into New Areas due to Human Movements: A Historical Perspective. In: Service MW, editor. Demography and vector-borne diseases. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press; 1989. p. 1-34.



- Frean J, Blumberg L. Odyssean and non-mosquito-transmitted forms of malaria.
 In: Schlagenhauf-Lawlor P, editor. Travelers' Malaria. Hamilton, Canada: BC Decker, 2007.
- 70. Muentener PS, Steffen R. Imported malaria (1985-95): trends and perspectives. Bull World Health Organ 1999; 77(7):560-565.
- Lines J, Harpham T, Leake C, Schofield C. Trends, priorities and policy directions in the control of vector-borne diseases in urban environments. Health Policy Plan 1994; 9:113-129.
- 72. Donnelly MJ, McCall PJ, Lengeler C, Bates I, D'Alessandro U, Barnish G, et al. Malaria and urbanization in sub-Saharan Africa. Malaria J 2005; 4: 12.
- 73. Keiser J, Utzinger J, De Castro MC, Smith TA, Tanner SM, Singer BH. Urbanization in sub-Saharan Africa and Implications for Malaria Control. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2004; 71(Suppl 2):S118-S122.
- 74. Harpham T, Tanner M. Urban health in Developing Countries: Progress and Prospects. London: Earthscan Publication; 1995.
- 75. International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI). Malaria and Agriculture. Washington DC: IFPRI; 2006. [homepage on the Internet] [cited 2011 June 30]. Available from: <u>http://www.ifpri.org/blog/malaria-and-agriculture</u>
- 76. Service MW. Problems of vector-borne diseases and irrigation projects. Insect Sci App1984; 5:227-231.
- 77. Mouchet J, Manguin S, Sircoulon J, Laventure S, Faye O, Onapa AW, et al. Evolution of malaria in Africa for the past 40 years: impact of climatic and human factors. J Am Mosq Control Assoc 1998; 14:121-30.
- Mouchet J. Mini review: agriculture and vector resistance. Insect Sci App 1988; 9:297-302.



- World Health Organization. Resistance of vectors and reservoirs of disease to pesticides: 10th Report of the WHO Expert Committee on Vector Biology and Control, WHO Tech. Rep. Ser. No. 737. Geneva: WHO, 1986.
- Bruce-Chwatt L. Malaria. In Gillies HM, Warrall DA, editors. Essential malariology.
 3rd ed. London, United Kingdom: Edward Arnold; 1993.
- 81. Gillies MT, Coetzee M. A supplement to the Anophelinae of Africa South of the Sahara. South African Institute for Medical Research 1987; 55.
- 82. Gillies MT, De Meillon B. The Anophelinae of Africa South of the Sahara. South African Institute for Medical Research 1968; 54:127-150.
- 83. Collins FH, Besansky NJ. Vector biology and the control of malaria in Africa. Science 1994; 264:1874-1875.
- 84. Dyce C. The analysis of parasite transmission by bloodsucking insects. Ann Rev Entomol 1992; 37:1-19.
- 85. Oyibo WA, Ogomo CO. Effects of malaria and human immunodeficiency virus coinfection during pregnancy. Int J Health Sci 2003; 2(3):237-243.
- 86. French N, Gilks CF. Fresh from the field: some controversies in tropical medicine and hygiene: HIV and malaria, do they interact. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 2000; 94:233-237.
- Corbett EL, Steketee RW, Kuile FO, Latif AS, Kamali A, Hayes RJ. AIDS In Africa III: HIV-1/AIDS and the control of other infectious diseases in Africa. Lancet 2002; 359: 2177-2187.
- Slutsker L, Marston BJ. HIV and malaria: interactions and implications. Curr Opin Infect Dis 2007; 20(1):3-10.
- Verhoeff FH, Brabin BJ, Hart CA, Chimsuku L, Kazembe P, Broadhead RL. Increased prevalence of malaria in HIV-infected pregnant women and its implications for malaria control. Trop Med Int Health 1999; 4:5-12.



- 90. Van Eijk AM, Ayisi JG, ter Kuile FO, Misore AO, Otieno JA, Rosen DH, Kager PA, et al. HIV increases the risk of malaria in women of all gravidities in Kisumu, Kenya. AIDS 2003; 17:595-603.
- 91. Kublin JG, Patnaik P, Jere CS, Miller WC, Hoffman IF, Chimbiya N, Pendame R, et al. Effect of Plasmodium falciparum malaria on concentration of HIV-1-RNA in the blood of adults in rural Malawi: a prospective cohort study. Lancet 2005; 365: 233-240.
- 92. Steketee RW, Wirima JJ, Bloland PB, Chilima B, Mermin JH, Chitsulo L, et al. Impairment of a pregnant woman's acquired ability to limit Plasmodium falciparum by infection with human immunodeficiency virus type-1. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1996; 55(Suppl 1):S42-S49.
- 93. Hastings IM, D'Alessandro U. Modelling a predictable disaster: the rise and spread of drug-resistance in malaria. Parasitol Today 2000; 16:340-347.
- 94. Marsh K. The Challenge of Malaria. Odyssey 1998; 4(1):59-70.
- 95. Visagie NJ, Seiling WL. Chloroquine-resistant Plasmodium falciparum malaria in South Africa. A case study. S Afr Med J 1985; 68(8):600-601.
- 96. Bjorkman A, Phillips-Howard PA. The epidemiology of drug-resistant malaria. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 1990; 84:177-180.
- 97. Wongsrichonalai C, Pickard AL, Wernsdorfer WH, Meshnick S. Epidemiology of drug-resistant malaria. Lancet Infect Dis 2002; 2:209-218.
- 98. Mutabingwa T, Nzila A, Mberu E, Nduati E, Winstanley P, et al. Chlorproguanildapsone for treatment of drug-resistant falciparum malaria in Tanzania. Lancet 2001; 358:1218-1223.
- 99. White N. Antimalarial drug resistance and combination chemotherapy. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 1999; 354:739-749.



- 100.World Health Organization. Indoor residual spraying: Use of indoor spraying for scaling up global malaria control and elimination. WHO position statement. Geneva: WHO; 2006.
- 101. Arrow KJ, Panosian C, Gelband H, editors. Committee on the Economics of Antimalarial Drugs. Saving Lives, Buying Time: Economics of Malaria Drugs in an Age of Resistance. Washington DC: National Academy Press; 2004. p. 388.
- 102. Davidson G. Insecticide Usage: An Anti-alarmist View of Its Advantages and Disadvantages. Trop Dis Bull 1989; 86(6):102-107.
- 103. Brogdon WG, McAllister JC. Insecticide resistance and vector control. Emerg Infect Dis 1998; 4:605-613.
- 104. World Health Organization. Vector resistance to pesticides: 15th report of the WHO Expert Committee on Vector Biology and Control, WHO Tech. Rep. Ser. No. 818. Geneva: WHO; 1992.
- 105. Brogdon WG. Biochemical resistance detection: an alternative to bioassay. Parasitol Today 1989; 5:56-60.
- 106. Brogdon WG. Laboratory and field microassay of cholinesterases in whole blood, plasma, and erythrocytes. Bull World Health Organ 1987; 65(2):227-232.
- 107. Collins FH, Kamau L, Ranson H, Vulule JM. Molecular entomology and prospects for -malaria control. Bull World Organ 2000; 78(12).
- 108. World Health Organization. Resistance of vectors of disease to pesticides. Fifth report of the WHO Expert Committee in Vector Biology and Control. WHO Tech Rep Ser No 655. Geneva: WHO; 1980.
- 109. Hemingway J, Field L, Vontas J. An overview of insecticide resistance. Science 2002; 298:96-97.
- 110. Chandre F, Darrier F, Manga L, Akogbeto M, Faye O, Mouchet J, et al. Status of pyrethroid resistance in Anopheles gambiae sensu lato. Bull World Health Organ 1999; 77:230-234.



- 111. Diabate A, Baldet T, Chandre F, et al. The role of agricultural use of insecticides in resistance to pyrethroids in Anopheles gambiae s.l. in Burkina Faso. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2002; 67(6):617-622.
- 112. World Health Organization. Malaria Vector Control and Personal Protection. WHO Tech. Rep. Ser. 936. Geneva: WHO; 2006.
- 113. Karunaratne SH. Insecticide cross-resistance spectra and underlying resistance mechanisms of Sri Lankan anopheline vectors of malaria. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 1999; 30(3):460-469.
- 114. Georghiou GP. The magnitude of the resistance problem. Pesticide Resistance: Strategies and Tactics for Management. Washington DC: National Academy Press; 1986. p 14-43.
- 115. Shidrawi GR. A WHO global programme for monitoring vector resistance to pesticides. Bull World Health Organ 1990; 68:403-408.
- 116. Thullner F. Impact of pesticide resistance and network for global pesticide management based on a regional structure. World Animal Rev 1997; 89.
- 117. Hemingway J, Ranson H. Insecticide resistance in insect vectors of human disease. Annual Rev Entomol 2000; 45:371-391.
- 118. Tabashnik BE. Managing resistance with multiple pesticide tactics: Theory, evidence, and recommendations. J Econ Entomol 1989; 82(5):1263-1269.
- 119. Nauen R. Perspective Insecticide resistance in disease vectors of public health importance. Pest Manag Sci 2007; 63:628-633.
- 120. Snow R, Craig M, Deichmann U, Marsh K. Estimating mortality, morbidity, and disability due to malaria among Africa's non-pregnant population. Bull World Health Organ 1999; 77:624-640
- 121. Kovats RS, Campbell-Lendrum DH, McMichael AJ, Woodward A, Cox JH. Early Effects of Climate Change: Do They Include Changes in Vector-Borne Disease? Phil Trans R Soc Lond B 2001; 356:1057-1068.



- 122. Snow RW, Omumbo JA. Malaria. In: Jamison DT, Feachem RG, Makgoba MW, Bos ER, Baingana FK et al, editors. Disease and Mortality in Sub-Saharan Africa. 2nd ed. Washington, DC: World Bank; 2006. p.195.
- 123. Cox JH, Mouchet J, Bradley DJ. Determinants of Malaria in Sub-Saharan Africa. In: Casman EA, Dowlatabadi H, editors. The Contextual Determinants of Malaria. Washington, DC: RFF Press; 2000. p 167-186.
- 124. Hay SI, Cox J, Rogers DJ, Randolph SE, Stern DI, Shanks DG, et al. Climate change and the resurgence of malaria in the East African highlands. Nature 2002; 415:905-909.
- 125. Githeko AK, Lindsay SW, Confalonieri UE, Patz JA. Climate change and vector-borne diseases: a regional analysis. Bull World Health Organ 2000; 78(9):1136-1147.
- 126. Nchinda TC. Malaria: A Re-emerging Disease in Africa. Emerg Infect Dis1998; 4:398-403.
- 127. Roll Back Malaria Partnership. The Africa Malaria Report 2003. [Online] [cited 2010 May 15]. Available from: http://www.rollbackmalaria.org/amd2003/amr2003/amr toc.htm
- 128. Mwangeni E, Masanja H, Momburi D, Mkilindi Y, Mbuya C, Kasale H. Health seeking behaviour in severe malaria in rural Tanzania. Proceeding of the 3rd Multilateral Initiative on Malaria Pan African Malaria Conference, Arusha, Tanzania; 2002.
- 129. Zambia Ministry of Health. National Malaria Indicator Survey 2006. [Online] [cited 2011 Jul 01]. Available from: <u>http://www.path.org/files/MACEPA_malaria_survey.pdf</u>
- 130. Girardin O, Dao D, Koudou BG, Esse C, Cisse G,Yao T, et al. Opportunities and limiting factors of intensive vegetable farming in malaria endemic Côte d'Ivoire. Acta Trop 2004; 89(2):109-123.
- 131. van der Hoek W. How can better farming methods reduce malaria? Acta Trop 2004; 89(2):95-97.



- 132. Gallup JL, Sachs JD. The economic burden of malaria. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2001;64(Suppl 1-2):S85-S96.
- 133. World Health Organization. A Global Strategy for Malaria Control. Geneva: WHO; 1993.
- 134. World Health Organization. Guidelines for the treatment of malaria. Geneva: WHO; 2006.
- 135. Warhurst DC, Williams JE. Laboratory diagnosis of malaria. J Clin Pathol 1996; 49:533-538.
- 136. Moody A. Rapid diagnostic tests for malaria parasites. Clin Microbiol Rev 2002; 15(1):66-78.
- 137. Goodman CA, Coleman PG, Mills AJ. Cost-effectiveness of malaria control in sub-Saharan Africa. Lancet 1999; 354:378-385.
- 138. The Wellcome Trust. Problems in tackling malaria. [homepage on the Internet] [cited 2010 June 03]. Available from: <u>http://malaria.wellcome.ac.uk/doc_WTD023887.html</u>
- 139. Greenwood B. Malaria. Lancet 2005; 365:1487-1498.
- 140. Department of Health. Guidelines for the treatment of malaria in South Africa. Pretoria, South Africa: NDoH; 2009.
- 141. Najera-Morrondo JA. Malaria control: history shows it's possible. World Health 1991:4-5.
- 142. World Health Organization. WHO Expert Committee on Malaria. WHO Tech. Rep. Ser. No.17. Geneva: WHO; 1997.
- 143. World Health Organization. Pesticides and their Application: For the control of vectors and pests of public health importance. 6th ed. Geneva: WHO; 2006.
- 144. Mellanby K. The DDT Story. London: British Crop Protection Council; 1992.
- 145. Curtis CF. Impregnated bednets, malaria control and child mortality in Africa. Trop Med Int Health 1996; 1:137-138.



- 146. Mabaso ML, Sharp B, Lengeler C. Historical review of malaria control in southern African with emphasis on the use of indoor house spraying. Trop. Med. Int. Health 2004; 9:846-56.
- 147. Chaundhry Q, Schöder P, Werck-Reichhart D, Grajek W, Marecik R. Prospects and limitations of phytoremediation for the removal of persistent pesticides in the environment. Environ Sci Pollut Res 2002; 9(1):4-17.
- 148. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). Pesticides and Public Health. US Environmental Protection Agency; 2006.
- 149. Attaran A, Maharaj R. Ethical debate: doctoring malaria, badly: the global campaign to ban DDT. Br Med J 2000; 321:1403-1405.
- 150. Sadasivaiah S, Tozan Y, Breman JG. Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) for indoor residual spraying in Africa: How can it be used for malaria control? Am J Trop Med Hyg 2007; 77(Suppl 6):S249-S263.
- 151. United Nations Environmental Programme (UNEP). Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants: Global status of DDT and its alternatives for use in vector control to prevent disease. Geneva: UNEP; 2008.
- 152. Biscoe ML, Mutero CM, Kramer RA. Current Policy and Status of DDT Use for Malaria Control in Ethiopia, Uganda, Kenya and South Africa. Int Water Management Inst; 2004.
- 153. Landa V, Soldan T. Methods to Assess Toxicity to Aquatic Systems in functional Ecosystems. In: Scientific Committee on Problems of the Environment (SCOPE) 49-Methods to Assess Adverse Effects of Pesticides on Non-target. [n.p.] 1998.
- 154. World Health Organization. Environmental Health Criteria 83 DDT and its Derivatives in Drinking-water. Geneva: WHO; 1989.
- 155. Trichopoulos D, Adami HO, Hsieh CC, Baron N, Titus-Ernshoff L, Lipworth L, et al. Organochlorine compounds in relation to breast cancer, endometrial cancer, and endometriosis: an assessment of the biological and epidemiological evidence. Crit Rev Toxicol 1995; 25:463-531.



- 156. Eskenazi B, Chevrier J, Goldman Rosas L, Anderson HA, Bornman MS, Bouwman H. The Pine River Statement: Human Health Consequences of DDT Use. Environ Health Perspect 2009; 117(9):1359-1367.
- 157. Beard J, Sladden T, Morgan G, Berry G, Brooks L, McMichael A. Health impacts of pesticide exposure in a cohort of outdoor workers. Environ Health Perspect 2003; 111:724-730.
- 158. Venners SA, Karrick S, Xu X, Chen C, Guang W, Huang A et al. Preconception Serum DDT and Pregnancy Loss: A Prospective Study Using a Biomarker of Pregnancy. Am J Epidemiol 2005; 162:709-716.
- 159. Garabrant DH, Held J, Langholz B, Peters JM, Mack TM. DDT and related compounds and risks of pancreatic cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 1992; 84:764-771.
- 160. Snedeker SM. Pesticides and breast cancer risk: a review of DDT, DDE and dieldrin. Environ Health Perspect 2001; 109:35-47.
- 161. Bouwman H, Sereda B, Meinardt HM. Simultaneous presence of DDT and pyrethroid residues in human breast milk from a malaria endemic area in South Africa. Environ Pollut 2006; 144:902-917.
- 162. De Jager C, Farias P, Barraza-Villarreal A, Avila MH, Ayotte P, Dewailly E et al. Reduced Seminal Parameters Associated With Environmental DDT Exposure and p.p'-DDE Concentrations in Men in Chiapas, Mexico: A Cross-Sectional Study. J Androl 2006; 27:16-27.
- 163. Aneck-Hahn NH, Schulenburg GW, Bornman MS, Farias P, De Jager C. Impaired Semen Quality Associated with Environmental DDT Exposure in Young Men Living in Malaria Area in the Limpopo Province, South Africa. J Androl 2007, 28:423-434.
- 164. De Jager C, Aneck-Hahn NH, Bornman MS, Farias P, Leter G, Eleuteri P et al. Sperm chromatin integrity in DDT-exposed young men living in a malaria area in Limpopo province, South Africa. Hum Reprod 2009; 24(10):2429-2438.



- 165. Bornman MS, Delport R, Becker P, Risenga S, de Jager C. Urogenital birth defects in neonates from a high-risk malaria area in Limpopo Province, South Africa. Epidemiol 2005; 16(5):126-127.
- 166. Borman R, De Jager C, Worku Z, Farias P, Reif S. DDT and urogenital malformation in newborn boys in malarial area. Br J Urol Int 2010; 106:405-411.
- 167. Rogan WJ, Chen A. Health risks and benefits of bis(4-chlorophenyl)-1,1,1trichloroethane (DDT). Lancet 2005; 366:763-773.
- 168. Herrera-Portugal C, Ochoa H, Franco-Sanchez G, Yanez L, Diaz-Barriga F. Environmental pathways of exposure to DDT for children living in malarious areas of Chiapas, Mexico. Envrion Res 2005; 99:158-163.
- 169. Nowell LH, Capel PD, Dileanis PD. Pesticides in stream sediment and aquatic biota: Distribution, trends and governing factors. Florida: CRC Press;1999. p.1040.
- 170. Zakaria Z, Yook Heng L, Abdullah P, Osman R, Din L. The Environmental Contamination by Organochlorine Insecticides of Some Agricultural Areas in Malaysia. Malaysian J Chem 2003; 5(1):078-085.
- 171. Capel PD, Nelson BJ. Bibliography of synthetic pyrethroid insecticides in the environment. Water Resources of California, United States Geological Survey (USGS) Water Resources Information; 2000.
- 172. Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO). Pesticides as water pollutants. In: Control of Water Pollution from Agriculture. Rome, Italy: FAO; 1990. [homepage on the Internet] [cited 2009 Apr 21]. Available from: <u>http://www.fao.org</u>
- 173. World Health Organization/ United Nations Environmental Programme. Malaria control: power of integrated action. Health and Environment Linkages Initiative (HELI) Policy Series. Geneva: WHO/UNEP; 2011. [Online] [cited 2011 June 30]. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/heli/risks/vectors/malariacontrol/en/index.html</u>
- 174. World Health Organization. Global strategic framework for integrated vector management. Geneva: WHO; 2004.



- 175. Dobrokhotov B. Alternatives to Chemical Methods for Vector Control. Ann Soc Belg Med Trop 1991; 71(Suppl 1):S27-S33.
- 176. World Health Organization. Chemical Methods for the Control of Vectors and Pests of Public Health Importance. Geneva: WHO Pesticide Evaluation Scheme; 1997.
- 177. United States Agency for International Development (USAID). Integrated Vector Management Programs for Malaria Control: Programmatic Environmental Assessment. Report prepared for Bureau for Global Health, United States Agency for International Development. Washington DC: RTI International; 2007.
- 178. Knols BG, Bossin HC, Mukabana WR, Robinson AS. Transgenic mosquitoes and the fight against malaria: Managing Technology Push in a Turbulent GMO World. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2007; 77:232-242.
- 179. Trape JF, Pison G, Spiegel A, Enel C, Rogier C. Combating malaria in Africa. Trends Parasitol 2002; 18(5):224-230.
- 180. Gunawardena DM, Wickremasinghe AR, Muthuwatta L, Weerasingha S, Rajakaruna J, Senanayaka T, et al. Malaria risk factors in an endemic region of Sri Lanka, and the impact and cost implications of risk factor-based interventions. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1998; 58(5):533-542.
- 181. Schofield CJ, White GB. House design and domestic vectors of disease. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 1984; 78(3):285-292.
- 182. Lindsay SW, Snow RW. The trouble with eaves: House entry by vectors of malaria. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 1988; 82(4):645-646.
- 183. Curtis CF, Myamba J, Wilkes TJ. Various pyrethroids on bednets and curtains. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz 1992; 87(Suppl 3):S363-S370.
- 184. Lengeler C. Insecticide-treated bed nets and curtains for preventing malaria. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2004; 2.



- 185. Nevill CG, Some ES, Mung'ala VO, Mutemi W, New L, Marsh K, et al. Insecticide treated bednets reduce mortality and severe morbidity from malaria among children on the Kenyan coast. Trop Med Int Health 1996; 1:139-146.
- 186. Binka FN, Kubadje A, Adjuik M, Williams LA, Lengeler C, Maude GH, et al. Impact of permethrin-impregnated bednets on child mortality in Kassena-Nankana District, Ghana: a randomized controlled trial. Trop Med Int Health 1996; 1:147-154.
- 187. Habluetzel A, Diallo DA, Esposito F, Lamizana L, Pagnoni F, Lengeler C, et al. Do insecticide treated curtains reduce all-cause child mortality in Burkina Faso? Trop Med Int Health 1998; 2:855-862.
- 188. D'Alessandro U, Olaleye B, McGuire W, Langerock P, Bennett S, Aikins M, et al. Mortality and morbidity from malaria in Gambian children after introduction of an impregnated bednet programme. Lancet 1995; 346:462-454.
- 189. Abdulla S, Armstrong Schellenberg J, Nathan R, Mukasa O, Marchant T, Smith T, et al. Impact on malaria morbidity of a programme supplying insecticide treated nets in children under 2 years in Tanzania: community cross-sectional study. Br Med J 2001; 322:270-273.
- 190. Phillips-Howard PA, Nahlen BL, Kolczak MS, Hightower AW, ter Kuile FO, Alaii JA, et al. Efficacy of permethrin-treated bed nets in the prevention of mortality in young children in an area of high perennial malaria transmission in western Kenya. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2003; 68(Suppl 4):S23-S29.
- 191. Monasch R, Reinisch A, Steketee RW, Korenromp EL, Alnwick D, Bergervin Y. Child coverage with mosquito nets and malaria treatment from population-based surveys in African countries: a baseline for monitoring progress in roll back malaria. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2004; 71(Suppl 2):S232-S238.
- 192. Rhee M, Sissoko M, Perry S, McFarland W, Parsonnet J, Doumbo O, et al. Use of insecticide-treated nets (ITNs) following a malaria education intervention in Piron, Mali: a control trial with systematic allocation of households. Malar J 2005; 4(35):1-9.



- 193. Goesch JN, Schwarz NG, Decker M-L, Oyakhirome S, Borchert LB, Kombila UD, et al. Socio-economic status is inversely related to bed net use in Gabon. Malar J 2008; 7: 60.
- 194. Hewitt S, Kamal M, Muhammad N, Rowland M. An entomological investigation of the likely impact of cattle ownership on malaria in an Afghan refugee camp in the North West Frontier Province of Pakistan. Med Vet Entomol 1994; 8(2):160-164.
- 195. Bouma M, Rowland M. Failure of passive zooprophylaxis: Cattle ownership in Pakistan is associated with a higher prevalence of malaria. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 1995; 89(4):351-353.
- 196. Van den Berg H. Global status of DDT and its alternatives for use in vector control to prevent disease. Cien Saude Colet 2009; 16(2):575-590.
- 197. Djenontin A, Chabi J, Baldet T, Irish S, Pennetier C, Hougard JM, et al. Managing insecticide resistance in malaria vectors by combining carbamate-treated plastic wall sheeting and pyrethroid-treated bed nets. Malar J 2009; 8: 233.
- 198. Farenhorst M, Knols BG, Thomas MB, Howard AF, Takken W, Rowland M. Synergy in efficacy of fungal entomopathogens and permethrin against West African insecticide-resistant Anopheles gambiae mosquitoes. PLoS Med 2010; 5(58):e12081.
- 199. Rogers WO, Hoffman SL. Malaria. In: Wahlgern M, Perlmann P, editors. Malaria: Molecular and Clinical Aspects. Harwood Academic Publishers; 1999. p. 439.
- 200. Bojang KA, Obaro SK, D'Alessandro U, Bennet S, Langerock P, Targett GA, et al. An efficacy trial of the malaria vaccine SPf66 in Gambian infants - second year of followup. Vaccine 1998; 16:62-67.
- 201. Nosten F, Luxemburger C, Kyle DE, Ballou WR, Witten J, Wah E, et al. Randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial of SPf66 malaria vaccine in children in northwestern Thailand. Lancet 1996; 348: 701–07.
- 202. Acosta C, Galindo C, Schellenberg JA, Aponte JJ, Kahigwa E, Urassa H, et al. Evaluation of the SPf66 vaccine for malaria control when delivered through EPI scheme in Tanzania. Trop Med Int Health 1999; 4:368-376.



- 203. Patarroyo ME, Amnador R, Clavijo P, Moreno A, Guzman F, Romero P, et al. A synthetic vaccine protects humans against challenge with asexual blood stages of Plasmodium falciparum malaria. Nature 1988; 332:158-162.
- 204. Alonso PL, Sacarlal J, Apunte JJ, Leach A, Macete E, Milman J, et al. Efficacy of the RTS.S/AS02A vaccine against Plasmodium falciparum infection and disease in young African children: randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2004; 364:1411-1420.
- 205. Miller LH, Hoffman SL. Research forward vaccines against malaria. Nat Med Vaccine Suppl 1998; 4:520-524.
- 206. Breman JG, Plowe CV. A malaria vaccine for control: more progress. J Infect Dis 2009; 200:317.
- 207. Maps of the World. [Onlie] [cited 2011 January 11]. Available from: http://mapsof.net/south_africa
- 208. Booman M, Durrheim DN, La Grange K, Martin C, Mabuza AM, Zitha A, et al. Using a geographical information system to plan a malaria control program in South Africa. Bull World Health Organ 2000; 78:1438-1444.
- 209. South African Government. Cross-boundary municipalities laws repeal and related matters act. South African Government Gazette (No. 28363). Pretoria, South Africa; 2005.
- 210. Booman M, Sharp BL, Martin CL, Manjate B, La Grange JJP, Durrheim DN. Enhancing malaria control using a computerized management system in southern Africa. Malar J 2003; 2: 13.
- 211. StataCorp. Stata/IC Statistical Software 11.0. College Station; Texas: 2009.
- 212. Statistics South Africa (2009) *Mid-year population estimates*. Pretoria, South Africa, 2009.
- 213. Statistics South Africa (2001) National Census. Pretoria, South Africa, 2001.



- 214. Barnes KI, Durrheim DN, Little F, Jackson A, Mehta U, Allen E, et al. Effect of Artemether-Lumefantrine Policy and Improved Vector Control on Malaria Burden in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. PLoS Med 2005; 2(1):e330.
- 215. Gerritsen AA, Kruger P, van der Loeff MF, Grobusch MP. Malaria incidence in Limpopo Province, South Africa, 1998–2007. Malar J 2008; 7: 162.
- 216. Department of Home Affairs. South Africa and Mozambique sign a Visa Waiver Agreement in 2005. [Online] [cited 2011 Jan 27]. Available from: <u>http://www.dha.gov.za/media_releases.asp?id=229</u>
- 217. Kleinschmidt I, Sharp B. Patterns in age-specific malaria incidence in a population exposed to low levels of malaria transmission intensity. Trop Med Int Health 2001; 6(9):986-991.
- 218. Russell TL, Govella NJ, Azizi S, Drakeley CJ, Kachur SP, Killeen GF. Increased proportions of outdoor feeding among residual malaria vector populations following increased use of insecticide-treated nets in rural Tanzania. Malar J 2011; 10: 80.
- 219. Govere J, Durrheim DN, Baker L, Hunt R, Coetzee M. Efficacy of three insect repellents against the malaria vector Anopheles arabiensis. Med Vet Entomol 2000; 14:441-444.
- 220. Frances SP, Wirtz RA. Repellents: past present and future. J Am Mosq Control Assoc 2005; 21:1-3.
- 221. Killeen GF, Fillinger U, Knols BG. Advantages of larval control for African malaria vectors: Low mobility and behavioural responsiveness of immature mosquito stages allow high effective coverage. Malar J 2002; 1: 8.
- 222. Fillinger U, Lindsay SW. Suppression of exposure to malaria vectors by an order of magnitude using microbial larvicides in rural Kenya. Trop Med Int Health 2006; 11:1-14.
- 223. Saul A. Zooprophylaxix and zoopotentiation: the outcome of introducing animals on vector transmission is highly dependent on the mosquito mortality while searching. Malar J 2003; 2: 32.



- 224. Adams I, Darko D, Accorsi S. Malaria: A Burden Explored. Bull Health Information 2004; 1(1):28-34.
- 225. Jamaiah I, Rohela M, Nissapatorn V, Khoo BL, Radhiyah M, Aisyah A. Malaria: 10 year (1994-2003) retrospective study at University Malaysia Medical Center (UMMC), Kuala Lampur, Malaysia. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 2005; 36(Suppl 4):S60-S63.
- 226. Lin H, Lu H, Tian L, Zhou S, Wu H, Bi Y, et al. Spatial and temporal distribution of malaria in China. Malar J 2009; 8: 130.
- 227. Yeshiwondim A, Gopal S, Hailemariam AT, Dengela DO, Patel HP. Spatial analysis of malaria incidence at the village level in areas with unstable transmission in Ethiopia. Int J Health Geographics 2009; 8(5).
- 228. Ghebreyesus TA, Witten KH, Getachew A, Yohannes AM, Tesfay W, Minass M, et al. The community-based malaria control programme in Tigray, northern Ethiopia. A review of programme set-up, activities, outcomes and impact. Parassitologia 2000; 42:255-290.
- 229. Guyatt HL, Snow RW. The epidemiology and burden of Plasmodium falciparum related anemia among pregnant women in sub-Saharan Africa. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2001; 64(Suppl 1-2):S36-S44.
- 230. Ngxongo SM. The epidemiology of malaria in KwaZulu, 1980-1991 [MSc thesis]. Durban: University of Natal; 1993.
- 231. Durrheim DN, Fieremans S, Kruger P, Mabuza A, de Bruyn JC. Confidential inquiry into malaria deaths. Bull World Health Organ 1999; 77:263-265.
- 232. Mehta U, Durrheim DN, Blumberg LH, Donohue S, Hansford F, Mabuza A, et al. Malaria deaths as sentinel events to monitor healthcare delivery and antimalarial drug safety. Trop Med Int Health 2007; 12:617-628.
- 233. Bukirwa H, Yau V, Kigozi R, Filler S, Quick L, Lugemwa M, et al. Assessing the impact of indoor residual spraying on malaria morbidity using a sentinel site surveillance system in Western Uganda. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2009; 81:611-614.



- 234. Maharaj R, Mthembu DJ, Sharp BL. Impact of DDT re-introduction on malaria transmission in KwaZulu-Natal. S Afr Med J 2005; 95:871-874.
- 235. Craig MH, Kleinschmidt I, Nawn JB, Le Sueur D, Sharp BL. Exploring 30 years of malaria case data in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa: Part I. The impact of climatic factors. Trop Med Int Health 2004; 9(12):1247-1257.
- 236. Craig MH, Snow RW, Sueur D. A climate based distribution model of malaria transmission in Sub-Saharan Africa. Parasitol Today 1999; 15:104-105.
- 237. Martens WJM, Niessen LW, Rotman J, Jetten TH, McMichael AJ. Potential Impact of Global Climate Change on Malaria Risk. Environ Health Perspect 1995; 103:458-464.
- 238. Reiter P. Climate Change and Mosquito-Borne Diseases. Environ Health Perspect 2001; 109(Suppl 1):S141-S161.
- 239. Casman EA, Dowlatabadi H, editors. The Contextual Determinants of Malaria. Washington DC: Resources for the Future Press; 2002. p. 382.


ANNEXURE 1: Proof of Ethics Committee Approval

